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CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY 
COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 

 
We respectfully acknowledge that the land on which we gather is the  

unceded traditional territory of the K’ómoks First Nation 
 

 
DATE:  June 17, 2019 
PLACE: City Hall Council Chambers 
TIME:  4:00 p.m.  
 
 
 
 
 
1.00 
 
1 
 

 
K’OMOKS FIRST NATION ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 
 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
1.  Adopt June 10th, 2019 Regular Council meeting minutes 
 

 
2.00 

 
INTRODUCTION OF LATE ITEMS 
 

 
3.00 
 
9 
 
19 

 
DELEGATIONS 
 
1. Cliff Boldt - Local Area Plan for West Courtenay 
 
2. Judy Norbury - Comox Valley Accessibility Committee 
 

 
4.00 
 
 
 
41 
 
95 
 
 
 
115 
 

 
STAFF REPORTS/PRESENTATIONS 
 
(a) Development Services 
 
1. Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2957 - #103-2270 Cliffe Avenue 
 
2. 11th Street Road End Land Exchange 
 
(b) Financial Services 
 
3. Financial Information Act - 2018 Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) 
 

 
5.00 
 
153 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
EXTERNAL REPORTS AND CORRESPONDENCE FOR INFORMATION 
 
1. CVRD - Regional Organics Compost Facility Expansion - Organics 
 Infrastructure Program - Request for Letter of Support 
 
Suggested motion: that Council provide a letter in support of the Comox 
Valley Regional District (CVRD’s) application for grant funding to the 
Organics Infrastructure Program for the Regional Organics Compost facility 
expansion project. 
 
Staff Note: The application must be submitted to the Organics Infrastructure  
   Program before Saturday, June 22, 2019 
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155 
 
179 
 
181 

 
2. 2019 Union of BC Municipalities (UBCM) Convention September 23 - 27, 
 2019 

• Provincial Appointment Book (Includes Meeting Request Process for 
Meetings with Provincial Government Staff) 

• Meeting Requests with John Horgan, Premier and Provincial Cabinet 
Ministers 

• Meeting Requests with Selina Robinson, Minister of Municipal Affairs and 
Housing 

 
Staff Note:  Deadline to submit to Premier Horgan and Cabinet Ministers  
   before Wednesday, July 17, 2019 
 
   Deadline to submit to Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing  
   before Wednesday, July 17, 2019 
 
   Deadline to submit to Ministries, Agencies, Commissions and   
   Corporations (MACC) before Friday August 23, 2019 
 

 
6.00 
 

 
INTERNAL REPORTS AND CORRESPONDENCE FOR INFORMATION 
 

 
7.00 

 
REPORTS/UPDATES FROM COUNCIL MEMBERS INCLUDING 
REPORTS FROM COMMITTEES 
 
 Councillor Cole-Hamilton    Councillor Morin 
 Councillor Frisch      Councillor Theos 
 Councillor Hillian      Mayor Wells 
 Councillor McCollum 

 
 
8.00 
 

 
RESOLUTIONS OF COUNCIL 
 
1. In Camera Meeting 
 
That notice is hereby given that a Special In-Camera meeting closed to the public 
will be held June 17th, 2019 at the conclusion of the Regular Council Meeting 
pursuant to the following sub-sections of the Community Charter: 
 

- 90 (1) (c) labour relations or other employee relations; 
- 90 (1) (b) personal information about an identifiable individual who is 
- being considered for a municipal award or honour, or who has offered to 

provide a gift to the municipality on condition of anonymity. 
 

 
9.00 
 

 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

 
10.00 

 
NOTICE OF MOTION 
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11.00 
 

 
NEW BUSINESS 
 

 
12.00 
 
 
 
183 
 
 
 
 
 
185 
 
 
 
 
187 
 
 
 
189 
 
 
 
 
189 
 
 
191 
 

 
BYLAWS 
 
For First and Second Reading 
 
1. “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2957, 2019” 
 (A bylaw to allow storefront cannabis retailer as permitted use - #103 - 2270 
 Cliffe Avenue) 
 
For Third Reading 
 
1. “Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw No. 2922, 2019” 
 (A bylaw to change the land use designation from urban residential to multi 
 residential and amend the City of Courtenay OCP Land Use map - 2048 - 
 13th Street) 
 
2. “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2927, 2019” 
 (A bylaw to add multi residential dwellings as permitted use - 2048 - 13th 
 Street) 
 
3. “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2962, 2019” 
 (A bylaw to rezone property to allow for a secondary suite - 2100 Arden Road) 
 
For Final Adoption 
 
1. “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2962, 2019” 
 (A bylaw to rezone property to allow for a secondary suite - 2100 Arden Road) 
 
2. “City of Courtenay Single Use Plastics Regulation Bylaw No. 2970, 2019” 
 (A bylaw to regulate the business use of single use plastics) 
 

 
13.00 

 
ADJOURNMENT 
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Minutes of a Regular Council Meeting held in the City Hall Council Chambers, Courtenay, 
B.C., on Monday, June 10, 2019 at 4:00 p.m. 
 
 

Attending: 
 Mayor:  Bob Wells 
 Councillors: W. Cole-Hamilton 
     D. Frisch 
     D. Hillian 
     W. McCollum 
     W. Morin 
     M. Theos 
 
 Staff:  D. Allen, CAO 
    J. Ward, Director of Legislative & Corporate Services/Deputy CAO 
    W. Sorichta, Manager of Legislative & Corporate Administrative Services 
    I. Buck, Director of Development Services 
    T. Kushner, Director of Public Works Services/Assistant CAO 
    D. Snider, Director of Recreation and Cultural Services 
    M. Fitzgerald, Manager of Development Planning 
    A. Guillo, Manager of Communications 
     
1.00  ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
.01 
MINUTES 
 
 

 Moved by Frisch and seconded by Morin that the May 21st, 2019 
Regular Council meeting minutes be adopted. 
 
Amending motion: 
 Moved by Hillian and seconded by Frisch that the May 21st, 2019 
Council meeting minutes be amended to strike item 12.01 Zoning 
Amendment Bylaw No. 2961, 2019 from the minutes. 
Carried 
The main motion was carried as amended 
 

2.00 ADOPTION OF LATE ITEMS 
 
Council unanimously agreed to receive information related to the 5th Street Bridge Rehabilitation 
Project under section 11.00 New Business of the June 10, 2019 Council agenda. 
 
3.00 DELEGATIONS 
 
Jennell Ellis, Breathe Clean Air Comox Valley, presented information to Council related to wood 
smoke emissions and the health impacts of wood smoke to Comox Valley residents. Clean Air 
Comox Valley is asking local area governments to set goals for community wide reductions in 
smoke emissions to improve air quality; and, provide incentives to switch to clean heat, educate 
residents on health and environmental impacts and implement bylaws to regulate the use of wood 
stoves and prevent outdoor burning. 
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4.00 STAFF REPORTS/PRESENTATIONS 
 
.01 
COURTENAY 
RECREATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION -
LETTER OF 
UNDERSTANDING 
EVERGREEN CLUB & 
BUILDING 
FRIENDSHIPS 
2240-20 CRA 

 Moved by Frisch and seconded by McCollum that based on the 
June 10th, 2019 staff report, “Courtenay Recreational Association Letter 
of Understanding Evergreen Club and Building Friendships”, that 
Council approve OPTION 1 and authorize the attached agreements 
between the City and the Courtenay Recreational Association; and 
 
That the Mayor and the Director of Legislative and Corporate Services be 
authorized to execute the agreement on behalf of the City. 
Carried 
 

 
.02 
DEVELOPMENT 
VARIANCE PERMIT 
NO. 1828 (301 
PUNTLEDGE ROAD) 
3060-20-1828 

 
 Moved by Hillian and seconded by Frisch that based on the June 
10th, 2019 staff report “Development Variance Permit No. 1828 - 301 
Puntledge Road” Council approve OPTION 1 and issue Development 
Variance Permit No. 1828; and 
 
That in accordance with Section 524 (7)(b) of the Local Government Act 
and the letter prepared by Eric Heel, P. Eng dated March 4th, 2019 and 
attached as Attachment No. 4, Council exempt the addition from meeting 
the flood construction levels required under Part 4 of Floodplain 
Management Bylaw No. 1743, 1994. 
Carried 
 

.03 
DEVELOPMENT 
PERMIT WITH 
VARIANCES  
NO. 1902 
(632, 656, 668 & 
680 - 5TH STREET) 
3060-20-1902 
 

 Moved by Hillian and seconded by McCollum that based on the 
June 10th, 2019 staff report “Development Permit with Variances No. 
1902 - 632, 656, 668 & 680 5th Street”, Council approve OPTION 1 and 
proceed with issuing Development Permit with Variances No. 1902. 
Carried 
 

The council meeting recessed at 4:55 p.m. for the Public Hearing regarding Bylaw No.’s 
2922, 2927 & 2962. 
The meeting reconvened at 5:10 p.m. 
 
.04 
HOUSING NEEDS 
REPORT -  
REGIONAL  
APPROACH 
6600-01-01 

 Moved by Cole-Hamilton and seconded by Frisch that based on 
the June 10th, 2019 staff report, “Housing Needs Reports – Regional 
Approach”, Council approve OPTION 1 and support the City’s 
participation in a Regional Housing Needs Report Program coordinated 
by the Comox Valley Regional District and authorize the Comox Valley 
Regional District to apply for, receive and manage the Housing Needs 
Report program grant funding on the City’s behalf. 
Carried 
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.05 
BYLAW NO. 2970, 
2019, SINGLE USE 
PLASTIC REGULATION 
4320-20  

 
 Moved by Hillian and seconded by Theos that based on the June 
10th, 2019 staff report “City of Courtenay Single Use Plastic Regulation 
Bylaw No. 2970, 2019”, Council proceed to final adoption of “City of 
Courtenay Single Use Plastic Regulation Bylaw No. 2970, 2019” at the 
June 17th, 2020 Council meeting; and  
 
That Council direct staff to proceed with the public information process 
outlined in the report. 
 
Amending motion: 
 Moved by Cole-Hamilton and seconded by Frisch that City of 
Courtenay Single Use Plastics Regulation Bylaw No. 2970, 2019, be 
amended at third reading to change the date penalties for committing an 
offence come into effect, identified in Section 8) Effective Date of the 
bylaw, to now read as follows: 

This Bylaw shall come into force and effect on July 1, 
2019, except Section 5 which comes into force March 31, 
2020. 

Carried 
The main motion was carried as amended 
 
New motion: 
 Moved by Hillian and seconded by Frisch that Council set a date 
to review Courtenay Single Use Plastics Regulation Bylaw No. 2970, 
2019, in one year’s time; and, 
 
That staff provide a report with feedback on additional items that may be 
included in the bylaw upon implementation in June 2020. 
Carried 
 

.06 
BYLAW NO. 2955, 
ZONING 
AMENDMENT, 
CANNABIS 
STOREFRONT 
(#103-1025 CLIFFE 
AVENUE) 
3360-20-1902 
 

 Moved by McCollum and seconded by Frisch that based on the 
June 10th, 2019 staff report ‘Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2955 - #103 
- 1025 Cliffe Avenue’ Council approve OPTION 1 and proceed to First 
and Second Readings of Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2955, 2019; and 
 
That Council direct staff to schedule and advertise a statutory public 
hearing with respect to the above referenced Bylaw on July 2nd, 2019 at 
5:00 p.m. in City Hall Council Chambers. 
Carried 

.07 
BYLAW NO. 2969, 
ZONING 
AMENDMENT, 
SECONDARY SUITE 
(1573 HURFORD 
AVENUE) 
3360-20-1909 

 Moved by McCollum and seconded by Hillian that based on the 
June 10th, 2019 staff report, “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2969 to 
allow for a secondary suite at 1573 Hurford Avenue” Council approve 
OPTION 1 and proceed to First and Second Readings of Zoning 
Amendment Bylaw No. 2969, 2019; and 
 
That Council direct staff to schedule and advertise a statutory public 
hearing with respect to Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2969, 2019 on 
July 2nd, 2019 at 5:00 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers. 
Carried 

3



R11/2019 - June 10, 2019 

4 
 

 
5.00 EXTERNAL REPORTS AND CORRESPONDENCE FOR INFORMATION 
 
.01 
ST. GEORGE’S  
UNITED CHURCH  
OF CANADA 
LETTER OF 
APPRECIATION 
0220-01 
 

 Moved by Frisch and seconded by Hillian that the correspondence 
dated May 9th, 2019 from Nancy Milliken, St. George’s United Church of 
Canada, thanking Council for meeting their request for funding to 
upgrade their kitchen and bathroom facilities, be received for 
information.  
Carried 

.02 
CLIMATE CHANGE 
LETTER OF RESPONSE 
FROM BHP GROUP 
LIMITED 
0220-02 / 5280-12 
 

 Moved by Hillian and seconded by Frisch that the correspondence 
dated April 23rd, 2019 from Fiona Wild, Vice President, Sustainability 
and Climate Change, BHP, in response to Council’s climate 
accountability letter of March 20th, 2019, be received for information. 
Carried 
 

.03 
JOHN HOWARD 
SOCIETY OF NORTH 
ISLAND  
LETTER OF 
APPRECIATION 
0220-01 / 1850-01 
 

 Moved by Hillian and seconded by Cole-Hamilton that the 
correspondence dated May 23rd, 2019 from the John Howard Society of 
North Island, thanking Council for the $7,500 grant-in-aid funding for 
their KidStart mentoring program, be received for information. 
Carried 

 
6.00 INTERNAL REPORTS AND CORRESPONDENCE FOR INFORMATION 
 
.01 
BRIEFING NOTE: 
LEWIS PARK 
STAIRCASE - 
PROJECT 
COMPLETION  
UPDATE 2019 
6140-103 

 
 Moved by Frisch and seconded by McCollum that the June 4th, 
2019 briefing note “Lewis Park Staircase - Project Completion Update 
2019”, be received for information. 
Carried 
 

 
.02 
HERITAGE ADVISORY 
COMMISSION 
MINUTES 
0360-20 
 

 
 Moved by Frisch and seconded by Cole-Hamilton that the 
minutes of the April 24th, 2019 Heritage Advisory Commission meeting 
be adopted. 
Carried 
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7.00 REPORTS/UPDATES FROM COUNCIL MEMBERS INCLUDING REPORTS 
FROM COMMITTEES 
 
COUNCILLOR  
COLE-HAMILTON 

Councillor Cole-Hamilton reviewed his attendance at the following 
events:  
 Heritage Advisory Commission meeting 
 Comox Valley Economic Development Society Innovate 2030 - 

Employee Housing Summit 
 Comox Valley Economic Development Society AGM & Innovate 

2030 Open House 
 2019 Federation of Canadian Municipalities (FCM) Annual 

Conference and Trade Show  
 City of Courtenay Student Bursary presentation at George’s P. 

Vanier Secondary School 
 Meeting with BC Housing, Staff and Council 
 Comox Valley Coalition to End Homelessness meeting 

 
COUNCILLOR  
FRISCH 

Councillor Frisch reviewed his attendance at the following events: 
 Comox Valley Economic Development Society Innovate 2030 - 

Employee Housing Summit 
 Comox Valley Economic Development Society AGM & Innovate 

2030 Open House 
 CVRD Sewage Commission meeting 
 CVRD Board meeting 
 K’ómoks First Nation Council and CVRD Board meeting 
 Comox Lake Watershed Advisory Committee meeting 
 2019 Federation of Canadian Municipalities (FCM) Annual 

Conference and Trade Show  
 Meeting with MP Nathan Cullen re: Zero Waste Plastic Bill 
 Integrated Regional Transportation Select Committee meeting 
 5th Street Complete Street Project Official Completion and  

Walking Tour event 

COUNCILLOR  
HILLIAN 

Councillor Hillian reviewed his attendance at the following events:  
 Comox Valley Economic Development Society Innovate 2030 - 

Employee Housing Summit 
 Comox Valley Economic Development Society AGM & Innovate 

2030 Open House 
 2019 Federation of Canadian Municipalities (FCM) Annual 

Conference and Trade Show  
 Millard Piercy Watershed Stewards watershed walk 
 Meeting with BC Housing, Staff and Council 
 Comox Valley Coalition to End Homelessness meeting 
 School District 71 “The Big History Project” event hosted at 

Native Sons Hall 
 The Junction, 988 - 8th Street Supportive Housing, Community 

Advisory committee meeting 
 5th Street Complete Street Project Official Completion and  

Walking Tour event 
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COUNCILLOR  
MCCOLLUM 

 
Councillor McCollum reviewed her attendance at the following events:  
 Comox Valley Economic Development Society AGM & Innovate 

2030 Open House 
 K’ómoks First Nation Council and CVRD Board meeting 
 CVRD Board meeting 
 2019 Federation of Canadian Municipalities (FCM) Annual 

Conference and Trade Show 
 Comox Valley Economic Development Society Board Mix and 

Mingle - BC Seafood Festival event 
 5th Street Complete Street Project Official Completion and  

Walking Tour event 
 

COUNCILLOR  
MORIN 

Councillor Morin reviewed her attendance at the following events:  
 Meeting with resident regarding concerns about neighbourhood 

noise, etc. 
 Comox Valley Economic Development Society Innovate 2030 - 

Employee Housing Summit 
 Comox Valley Economic Development Society AGM & Innovate 

2030 Open House 
 Project Watershed AGM 
 CVRD Sewage Commission meeting 
 2019 Federation of Canadian Municipalities (FCM) Annual 

Conference and Trade Show 
 School District 71 “The Big History Project” event hosted at 

Native Sons Hall 
 

MAYOR 
WELLS 

Mayor Wells reviewed his attendance at the following events:  
 Comox Valley Economic Development Society Innovate 2030 - 

Employee Housing Summit 
 Comox Valley Economic Development Society AGM & Innovate 

2030 Open House 
 Comox Valley Leaders Lunch 
 Royal Canadian Sea Cadet Corps Annual Ceremonial Review and 

Graduation 
 Project Watershed AGM and presentation on protective fencing in 

estuary  
 2019 Federation of Canadian Municipalities (FCM) Annual 

Conference and Trade Show 
• Tour to Robert Cliché MRC 
• FCM - Climate caucus 
• Engaging youth in politics 

 Meeting with BC Housing, Staff and Council  
 Comox Valley Coalition to End Homelessness meeting 
 School District 71 “The Big History Project” event hosted at 

Native Sons Hall 
 Island Coastal Economic Trust (ICET) North Island meeting 
 2019 BC Historical Federation Conference hosted at Native Sons 

Hall 
 79th Annual Ceremonial Review - Princess Mary's Canadian 

Scottish Regiment 
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 75th Annual Ceremonial Review - 368 Komox Royal Canadian 

Air Cadet Squadron 
 5th Street Complete Street Project Official Completion and  

Walking Tour event 
 
8.00 RESOLUTIONS OF COUNCIL 
 
COUNCILLOR 
MCCOLLUM, 
SMOKING BYLAW, 
PARKS AND PUBLIC 
SPACES 

 Moved by McCollum and seconded by Cole-Hamilton 
Whereas, the smoking of tobacco, cannabis and vaping products impacts 
the public's enjoyment of parks and public spaces and may create a health 
hazard for some; and 
 
Whereas, limiting the availability of public spaces to consume such 
products has been proven to decrease use; and 
 
Whereas, the public use of cannabis is expected to become more 
prevalent with the legal sale of recreational cannabis in the City of 
Courtenay; and 
 
Whereas, local droughts and fire seasons are becoming increasingly 
longer and more intense, and the City must ensure that the activities 
carried out in our parks do not increase the risk of fire; 
 
Therefore be it resolved that Council direct staff to prepare a bylaw to 
prohibit the smoking of tobacco and cannabis, and the use of vaping 
devices, in the City of Courtenay’s parks and properties. 
Carried 
 

 
9.00 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
 
10.00 NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
 
11.00 NEW BUSINESS 
 
.01 
5TH STREET BRIDGE 
REHABILITATION 
PROJECT 
5335‐20 / 5400‐02 
 

 
David Allen, Chief Administrative Officer, provided a verbal update to 
Council related to the status of the 5th Street Bridge Rehabilitation 
Project. The 5th Street Bridge decision on how to proceed with the project 
is anticipated to be brought forward to Council at the June 24, 2019 
Committee of the Whole meeting, pending confirmation of consultant 
availability. 
 
A Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) document is being prepared and 
will be available to the public by the end of this week.  Additionally, an 
email address, specific to the bridge project, will be created and 
monitored by project staff to allow members of the public to provide 
suggestions, ask questions, or give feedback related to the project. 
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12.00 BYLAWS  
 
.01 
BYLAW NO. 2955, 
2019, ZONING 
AMENDMENT TO 
ALLOW STOREFRONT 
CANNABIS RETAILER 
AS PERMITTED USE 
(#103-1025 CLIFFE 
AVENUE) 
 

 Moved by Hillian and seconded by Frisch that “Zoning 
Amendment Bylaw No. 2955, 2019” pass first and second readings. 
Carried 

.02 
BYLAW NO. 2969, 
2019, ZONING 
AMENDMENT TO 
ALLOW FOR A 
SECONDARY SUITE 
(1573 HURFORD 
AVENUE) 
 

 Moved by Theos and seconded by McCollum that “Zoning 
Amendment Bylaw No. 2969, 2019” pass first and second readings.  
Carried 
 

13.00 ADJOURNMENT 
 
.01 Moved by Hillian and seconded by Frisch that the meeting now 

adjourn at 6:12 p.m. 
Carried  
 
 
 
CERTIFIED CORRECT 
 
 
      
Corporate Officer 
 
 
 
Adopted this 17th day of June, 2019  
 
       
Mayor 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY 

STAFF REPORT 
 

 

To:  Council  File No.:  3360-20-1903 

From: Chief Administrative Officer Date:  June 17, 2019 

Subject: Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2957 – #103-2270 Cliffe Avenue 

PURPOSE: 

The purpose of this report is for Council to consider a Zoning Amendment application to rezone unit #103 – 
2270 Cliffe Avenue legally described as Lot A, Section 66, Comox District, Plan 34998, Except that Part in 
Plan 49713. The proposed amendment is to allow a storefront cannabis retailer in an existing commercial 
building. 

 

CAO RECOMMENDATIONS: 

THAT based on the June 17th, 2019 staff report “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2957 – #103-2270 Cliffe 
Avenue” Council approve OPTION 1 and proceed to First and Second Readings of Zoning Amendment 
Bylaw No. 2957, 2019; and 
 
THAT Council direct staff to schedule and advertise a statutory public hearing with respect to the above-
referenced Bylaw on July 15th, 2019 at 5:00 p.m. in City Hall Council Chambers. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
David Allen, BES, CLGEM, SCLGM 
Chief Administrative Officer 
 

BACKGROUND:  

The proposed cannabis storefront is located at 
the northeast corner of the intersection of 
Cliffe Avenue and Mansfield Drive. The 
property is occupied by a commercial building 
that contains multiple retail units including a 
café, a leather shop, a gift store, a surf shop 
and a tattoo business. 
 
The property is zoned Commercial Two Zone 
(C-2) and is designated “Commercial” within 
the Official Community Plan (OCP).  
 
The applicant proposes to rezone one of the 
units within the overall complex.  This means 

Figure 1: Location Map 

Mansfield Drive  
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Figure 2: Proposed store frontage (source: Google Street view) 

Figure 3: Proposed store frontage (source: Google Street view) 

that the “storefront cannabis retailer” 
use will only be allowed in unit #103 
should this amendment be successful (as 
seen in Figure No. 1).  
 
The business has been renamed “Patchi” 
from “Natures Blend”.  The 
correspondence in the Public 
Information Meeting attachments 
references the former name but it is the 
same business at the same location.   
 
The BC provincial legislation provides 
local governments with the authority to 
regulate certain criteria in terms of land use 
management with respect to non-medical 
cannabis retail. Similar to the previous six 
storefront applications, this zoning 
application is to be evaluated according to 
the City’s Storefront Cannabis Retailers 
Policy as well as rules and regulations that 
apply to all zoning amendment applications.  
 
This application is considered the seventh 
storefront cannabis rezoning. Table No. 1 
below summarizes the current status of 
applications which have been considered by Council. 
 
Table 1: Storefront Cannabis Applications Status  

Application 
Number 

Location  Status 

#1 #1400 – 2701 Cliffe Ave. (Driftwood Mall) 
 

Final approval March 4, 2019  

#2 789 Ryan Rd. (Superstore Shopping Mall) 
 

Final Approval March 18, 2019 
(Government Store) 

#3 143 - 5th Street  Final Approval April 1, 2019 

#4 605/625 Cliffe Ave. (Courtenay Mall) Final Approval May 6, 2019 
The licensing application with the Province 
has been subsequently terminated on June 
4, 2019  

#5 379 4th Street  Application Denied on May 21, 2019 

#6 #103-1025 Cliffe Avenue Council consideration of First and Second 
Reading June 10, 2019 

#7 #103-2070 Cliffe Avenue Council consideration of First and Second 
Reading June 17, 2019 
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The Planning department is currently processing a total of nine rezoning applications for storefront 
cannabis retailers within the City on a first come first served basis.  
 
A recent proposal for a storefront cannabis retail storefront located at 379 4th Street was denied by Council 
on May 21, 2019 and an application for a retail storefront at 605/625 Cliffe Avenue, although approved by 
the City was subsequently withdrawn by the applicant (see Table No. 1 above).  A map summarizing the 
approved, denied, pending and future Cannabis Retail proposals has been included in Attachment No. 1 

 

DISCUSSION:  

Overview of the Proposal 

The Patchi is currently leasing retail unit #103 and is proposing to establish a cannabis shorefront within 
the existing commercial building.  The company selected this particular location due to its central location 
within the Comox Valley. 
 
The floor area of the proposed store is approximately 68. 7m2(740 ft²) which includes 45.5m² (490 ft²) of 
retail space that will be visible to customers. The retail unit also includes a bathroom, storage area and 
office space.  
 
New signage is proposed at the entrance of the new store and the applicant will be making a separate sign 
permit application to allow these signs. The applicant has indicated that any exterior work to the retail unit 
would be limited to new signage and painting. The proposed plans are attached to the report (as seen in 
Attachment No. 4).   
 
The store would be open to the public between 11 a.m. and 7 p.m. Monday through Sunday. The store will 
be managed by four staff and two managers. All other operational requirements including security 
requirements are regulated by the provincial licencing regulations.  
 
Official Community Plan and Zoning Review 
 

There are no direct references in the Official Community Plan (OCP) with respect to storefront cannabis 
retailers. The City’s Storefront Cannabis Retailers Policy states that storefront cannabis retailers will only be 
considered in an established retail location where the zoning permits retail sales. Since the land use 
designation of the subject property is commercial, the proposed location is consistent with the policy. No 
building alterations are proposed except interior renovations.  
 
Parking is provided for in accordance with Policy 5 of the Cannabis Retailers Policy. In this regard, the 
commercial centre provides a total of 41 parking spaces for the combined retail uses onsite.  
 
Policy Compliance 
The table below compares the policy to the proposed retail location.  
 
Table 2: Evaluation of Proposal  

Policy Statements Policy Proposal 

General Location Only be permitted in an established retail location 
where the current zoning permits retail sales 

The property is zoned C-2, where retail sales is 
permitted 

Distance 1. A storefront cannabis retailer should be: 
a) At least 300 meters from public or 

 

a) Outside of the 300-meter buffer from any 
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independent elementary, middle or 
secondary school. 

b) At least 400 meters (in a straight line 
from closest lot line to closest lot line) 
from another lot where a storefront 
cannabis retailer is permitted, whether 
or not a storefront cannabis retailer is 
active on that lot 

c) At least 300 meters from a City owned 
playground facility including the spray 
park and skateboard parks 

2. This policy does not limit Council from 
considering variances to the separation 
distances noted above based on circumstances 
related to a specific application. 

public or independent schools 

 

b) Within the 400-meter buffer from another 
cannabis retailer. 

 

 

c) Outside the 300-meter buffer from a City 
owned playground facility including the spray 
park and skateboard parks.  

 

Restricted at 
temporary events 

Cannabis sales are not permitted at special events, 
public markets or farmers markets. 

At a permanent location and scheduled to be 
open between 11 a.m. and 7 p.m. (Monday 
through Sunday) 

Parking Satisfactory to the off-street parking requirements 
outlined in Division 7 of Zoning Bylaw 2500, 2007 

Satisfies the off-street parking requirements 
outlined in Division 7 of Zoning Bylaw 2500, 2007 

One store is 
permitted per lot 

Only one storefront cannabis retailer will be 
allowed per lot. 

No other applications are made at this location 

The Maximum 
Number of Retailers 
Permitted in the City 

Five (5) private retailers and one (1) Government 
operated store in the City 

 This is the 7
th

 rezoning application for storefront 
cannabis retailer made to the City. 

 Three applications have received final approval; 
two applications have been denied or 
withdrawn; and two applications (including this 
one) are in the bylaw adoption process.   
 

 
Evaluation  
 

As summarized in Table 2 above, the proposal is consistent the policies guiding storefront cannabis 
retailers with the exception of the distance requirement to another cannabis retailer. 
 
The closest cannabis retailer to this proposed store is located at unit #1400 – 2701 Cliffe Ave within the 
Driftwood Mall, approximately 310 metres away. Although this proposal is within 400 metres  (from 
property line to property line), given the significant size of the parking lot adjacent to the front of the mall, 
the door to door distance between the two  retail storefronts  is approximately 510 metres.   
 
The Cannabis Retailers Policy limits distances between retailers to a minimum of 400 metres (in a straight 
line from closest lot line to closest lot line) to another lot where a retailer is permitted, whether or not 
storefront retailer is active on that lot.  
 
It should be noted that the City’s Policy on retail cannabis sales is not a regulatory document and is a 
guiding policy document when dealing with individual applications, each of which is to be evaluated on its 
own merits. The policy does not limit Council from considering variances to the separation distances based 
on circumstances related to a specific application, if Council finds the proposal reasonable.  
 
With past applications Council has shown some flexibility in varying the minimum distance requirement 
between cannabis retailers as per the policy. For example, a proposal for a cannabis retail shop located at 
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605/625 Cliffe Avenue was approved by Council on May 6th, 2019 after Council approved another Cannabis 
retailer at 143 5th Street (Urban Smoke) on April 1, 2019. The distance between those two-retail locations is 
approximately 150 metres.  
 
Regarding the proposed storefront’s distance to playground facility, staff notes that the closest playground 
to the development is at the Air Park approximately 360 metres away. There are no spray parks or 
skateboard parks in the vicinity. 
 
During the public information meeting attendees expressed concerns regarding the safety and security of 
the proposed storefront.  The applicant is committed to providing a safe and secure premise and has noted 
that there is a zero tolerance for use of cannabis products on the premises. Also, no smoking signs will be 
posted on the exterior of the building. The applicant’s plans include a security camera plan which includes 
five cameras to be installed within the interior of the storefront. The retail unit will also have an alarm 
system installed and a security guard hired to provide after hour’s security. 
 
The applicant has put plans in place to alleviate concerns expressed by surrounding residents and 
commercial users regarding the safety and security within the interior and exterior of the proposed 
storefront. Staff supports the proposal and recommends the bylaw proceed to public hearing. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 
The applicant has paid the standard zoning amendment application fee in the amount of $3,000. The 
applicant will be required to obtain a building permit, sign permit and an annual business licence. The 
business licence fee is $2,500.  
 
ADMINISTRATIVE IMPLICATIONS:    
Processing zoning bylaw amendments is a statutory component of the corporate work plan. Staff has spent 
25 hours processing and reviewing this application. Should the proposed bylaws receive First and Second 
Readings, staff will spend an additional five hours in preparation for the public hearing, final reading of the 
bylaw, and updating the bylaws and maps. 
 
ASSET MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS: 
There are no direct asset management implications related to the processing of this rezoning application.   
 
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES REFERENCE:  
There are no associated references. However, processing development applications is the fundamental 
corporate and statutory obligations of the City. 

OFFICIAL COMMUNITY PLAN REFERENCE:    
There is no direct reference in the Official Community Plan to storefront cannabis retailers. The use is 
however, consistent with the commercial land use designation of the property.  

 

CITIZEN/PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT: 

Staff will consult the public based on the IAP2 Spectrum of Public Participation:  
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Should Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2957, 2019 receive First and Second Readings, a statutory public 
hearing will be held to obtain public opinion in accordance with the Local Government Act. 

Prior to this application proceeding to Council, the applicant held a public information meeting on February 
22nd, 2019 at Unit #103-2270 Cliffe Avenue from 5:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m. Property owners and occupiers 
within 100 metres of the subject property were invited to attend the meeting. A summary of the public 
information meeting and comments provided by surrounding property owners and occupiers have been 
included as Attachment No. 6.   
 
According to the applicant, five people attended the meeting with five persons signing the sign in sheet 
and five people filling out comment sheets (as seen in Attachment No. 7). Questions raised at the meeting 
were related to the owner’s business and operational plans, the security of the premises, smoking and the 
storefront’s proximity to the Air Park’s playground. To date, staff has received one written submission from 
the property owner located at 234-2300 Mansfield Drive in opposition to the proposal. 
 

OPTIONS: 

OPTION 1:  THAT based on the June 17th, 2019 staff report ‘Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2957 – #103 
- 2270 Cliffe Avenue’ Council approve Option No. 1 and proceed to First and Second 
Readings of Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2957, 2019; and 

 
THAT Council direct staff to schedule and advertise a statutory public hearing with respect 
to the above-referenced Bylaw on July 15th, 2019 at 5:00 p.m. in City Hall Council 
Chambers. (Recommended) 

 
OPTION 2:   That Council postpone consideration of Bylaw 2957, 2019 with a request for more 

information.  

OPTION 3:   That Council not proceed with Bylaw 2957, 2019. 
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Prepared by:      Reviewed by: 

 

________________________    ________________________________ 

Dana Beatson, MCIP, RPP    Ian Buck, MCIP, RPP 
Planner II       Director of Development Services 

 

Attachments: 

Attachment No. 1: Map of Approved, Denied/Withdrawn, Pending and Future Cannabis Retail Proposals 
Attachment No. 2 Storefront Cannabis Retailers Policy 
Attachment No. 3: Applicant’s Project Description  
Attachment No. 4: Floor Plans, Elevation Plans and Survey Plan  
Attachment No. 5: Applicant’s Business Plan 
Attachment No. 6: Public Information Meeting Summary 
Attachment No. 7: Public Sign in Sheet and Public Comments 
Attachment N. 8: Notification of Company Name Change from Nature’s Blend to The Patchi 
 
  

47



Staff Report – June 17, 2019  Page 8 of 54 
Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2957 – 103-2070 Cliffe Avenue 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT No. 1 (1/1) 
City Storefront Cannabis Retail Proposals  
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ATTACHMENT No. 2 (1/2) 

Storefront Cannabis Retailer Policy 
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ATTACHMENT No. 1 (2/2) 
Storefront Cannabis Retailer Policy 
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ATTACHMENT No. 3 (1/5) 
Applicant’s Project Description  
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ATTACHMENT No. 3 (2/5) 
Applicant’s Project Description  
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ATTACHMENT No. 3 (3/5) 
Applicant’s Project Description  

 

53



Staff Report – June 17, 2019  Page 14 of 54 
Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2957 – 103-2070 Cliffe Avenue 

 

 

 

  

ATTACHMENT No. 3 (4/5) 
Applicant’s Project Description  
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ATTACHMENT No. 3 (5/5) 
Applicant’s Project Description  
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ATTACHMENT No. 4 (1/3) 
Survey, Elevation and Floor Plans 
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ATTACHMENT No. 4 (2/3) 
Survey, Elevation and Floor Plans 
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ATTACHMENT No. 4 (3/3) 
Survey, Elevation and Floor Plans 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (1/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (2/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (3/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (4/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (5/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (6/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (7/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (8/26) 
Business Plan 

 

66



Staff Report – June 17, 2019  Page 27 of 54 
Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2957 – 103-2070 Cliffe Avenue 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT No. 5 (9/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (10/26) 
Business Plan 

 

68



Staff Report – June 17, 2019  Page 29 of 54 
Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2957 – 103-2070 Cliffe Avenue 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT No. 5 (11/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (12/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (13/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (14/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (15/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (16/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (17/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (18/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (19/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (20/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (21/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (22/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (23/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (24/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 5 (25/26) 
Business Plan 

 

83



Staff Report – June 17, 2019  Page 44 of 54 
Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2957 – 103-2070 Cliffe Avenue 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT No. 5 (26/26) 
Business Plan 
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ATTACHMENT No. 6 (1/1) 
Public Information Meeting Summary 
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ATTACHMENT No. 7 (1/7) 
Public Sign in Sheet and Public Comments 
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ATTACHMENT No. 7 (2/7) 
Public Sign in Sheet and Public Comments 
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ATTACHMENT No. 7 (3/7) 
Public Sign in Sheet and Public Comments 
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ATTACHMENT No. 7 (4/7) 
Public Sign in Sheet and Public Comments 

 

 

90



Staff Report – June 17, 2019  Page 51 of 54 
Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2957 – 103-2070 Cliffe Avenue 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT No. 7 (5/7) 
Public Sign in Sheet and Public Comments 
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ATTACHMENT No. 7 (6/7) 
Public Sign in Sheet and Public Comments 
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ATTACHMENT No. 7 (7/7) 
Public Sign in Sheet and Public Comments 
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ATTACHMENT No. 8 (1/1) 
Notification of Company Name Change 

from Nature’s Blend to The Patchi 
Store Plan 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY 

STAFF REPORT 
 

 
To:  Council  File No.:  0940-20   
From: Chief Administrative Officer Date: June 17, 2019  
Subject: 11th Street Road End Land Exchange  

 
PURPOSE: 
The purpose of this report is for Council to consider an extension to the Land Exchange Agreement with 
Mr. Mike Laver for a portion of the 11th Street Road End adjacent to the Courtenay River. 
 
CAO RECOMMENDATIONS: 
That based on the June 17, 2019 staff report, “11th Street Road End Land Exchange” Council direct staff to 
work with the City’s solicitor and Mr. Laver to extend the existing agreement for another two years; and 
That Mr. Laver be required to obtain an updated land appraisal for the property. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
David Allen, BES, CLGEM, SCLGM 
Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 
BACKGROUND: 
In the fall of 2017 the City entered into a sales agreement with the land owner (Mr. Laver) adjacent to the 
11t Street Road end. The intent of the agreement was to sell the City land to Mr. Laver (less the riparian 
area) for the purpose of consolidating it with his existing properties to build a seniors facility. The 
agreement has a number of conditions precedent to the sale and a two year window to complete those 
requirements. The deadline for completion is September 30th 2019. At this point Mr. Laver has not begun 
the necessary processes including subdivision, rezoning and development permit. Given there are only 
three months remaining, it is not possible to meet this deadline and the agreement will expire.   
A copy of the current agreement is included in Attachment No.1 to this report. As outlined in the 
agreement the proposal is to sell only the portion of land (approximately 600m2 in area) that is outside the 
30m riparian zone and floodplain setback. Additionally, the agreement requires dedication of an equivalent 
amount of land for waterfront access. As outlined in the sketch plan attached to the agreement this will be 
an approximately 8.4m strip of land on the northern edge of the property. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
Mr. Laver has indicated that at this point there are a number of people interested in developing the 
property. Correspondence provided by Mr. Laver is included in Attachment No. 2. Given this potential 
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interest Council may wish to consider that the agreement be renewed and extended for another two years 
with an end date of September 30th, 2021.  
If Council wishes to consider renewal staff suggest Mr. Laver be required to obtain another land appraisal 
to ensure the City is receiving current fair market value for the land.   
Alternatively, Council may not wish to approve an extension to the agreement with Mr Laver, and instead 
wish to consider including this City property into the City’s Land Acquisition and Disposition Strategy. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

Pursuant to the agreement all costs associated with this land exchange will be paid by Mr. Laver. In 2017 
Mr. Laver deposited $5,000 with the City to cover the City’s legal costs related to this project. To date 
$3,150.00 remains deposited.  

ADMINISTRATIVE IMPLICATIONS:    

Staff have previously spent approximately 30 hours on the request from the original agreement in 2017. 
The preparation of this report took approximately 3 hours. Should Mr. Laver find a proponent to develop 
the property additional time will be required for the road closure bylaw process and development 
approvals.  

ASSET MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS: 

There are no immediate asset management implications with this request. There is a storm drain within 
the closed road area that may need relocation depending on the final development plan. This will be done 
at the expense of Mr. Laver. 

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES REFERENCE: 

The following section of the City of Courtenay 2019-2022 Strategic Priorities applies to this proposal.  

We support diversity in housing and reasoned land use planning 

 Assess how city-owned lands can support our strategic land purchases and sales. 

OFFICIAL COMMUNITY PLAN REFERENCE:    

Not specifically referenced. 

REGIONAL GROWTH STRATEGY REFERENCE: 

Not specifically referenced. 

CITIZEN/PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT: 

Should the project proceed there will be a road closure and land disposition notification. Staff will consult 
the public during those processes based on the IAP2 Spectrum of Public Participation:  
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OPTIONS:    

OPTION 1:  That based on the June 17, 2019 staff report, “11th Street Road End Land Exchange” Council 
direct staff to work with the City’s solicitor and Mr. Laver to extend the existing agreement 
for another two years; and 
That Mr. Laver be required to obtain an updated land appraisal for the property.  

OPTION 2:  Allow the existing agreement to terminate and direct that this City property be included 
into the City’s Land Acquisition and Disposition Strategy.  

OPTION 3:  Request additional information (to be specified) prior to making a decision.  
 

 

Prepared by: 

 

 

_____________________ 

Ian Buck, MCIP, RPP 
Director of Development Services 
 
 
Attachments: 
 
Attachment No 1. – Existing agreement for land exchange 
Attachment No. 2 – Correspondence from Mr. Laver 
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Attachment No 1. Existing agreement for land exchange
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Attachment No. 2 – Correspondence from Mr. Laver
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY 

STAFF REPORT 
 

 

To:  Council  File No.:  1870-06 [2018] 

From: Chief Administrative Officer Date: June 17, 2019  

Subject: Financial Information Act – 2018 Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) 

 

PURPOSE: 

The purpose of this report is to request Council approval of the Statement of Financial Information for the 
year ended December 31, 2018. 

 

POLICY ANALYSIS:  

The Financial Information Act and the Financial Information Act Regulation 371/93 require local 
governments to prepare an annual statement of financial information. In addition, Section 168 of the 
Community Charter requires the City to prepare an annual reporting of council remuneration, expenses 
and contracts. Section 168 reporting is included in the City’s Annual Statement of Financial Information. 

 

CAO RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That based on the June 17, 2019 staff report “Financial Information Act – 2018 Statement of Financial 
Information”, Council approve OPTION 1 and approve the City of Courtenay Statement of Financial 
Information for the year ended December 31, 2018. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
David Allen, BES, CLGEM, SCLGM 
Chief Administrative Officer 

 

 

BACKGROUND: 

Under the terms of Financial Information Act, each local government in British Columbia is deemed to be a 
“corporation” and must prepare an annual Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) for submission to the 
Province by June 30th each year. 

 

DISCUSSION: 

Attached for Council’s review and approval is the City of Courtenay Statement of Financial Information for 

the year ended December 31, 2018.   
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As prescribed by legislation, this annual report includes information on the City’s audited financial 

statements, a schedule of remuneration and expenses for both Council and City employees, a schedule of 

payments made for supplies and services used by the City, as well as information on any active guarantee 

and indemnity agreements in place for the 2018 operational year. 

 

In the schedules of remuneration and expenses, Total Remuneration includes salary, wages, and taxable 

benefits.  Taxable benefits include premiums paid by the employer for Medical Services Plan, group term 

life insurance, vehicle allowance, parking, contributions made to an employee’s RRSP, and may include 

housing or moving expenses paid by the employer. Expenses include registration fees, travel expenses, 

memberships, certification fees and tuition. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

N/A 

ADMINISTRATIVE IMPLICATIONS:    

Preparing the annual SOFI report for submission to Council utilizes resources from both Finance and 

Human Resources departments. 

ASSET MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS: 

N/A 

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES REFERENCE: 

While the statements of financial information are not specifically referenced in the City’s strategic plan, 

staff resources are used to carry out this annual statutory requirement. 

OFFICIAL COMMUNITY PLAN REFERENCE:    

N/A 

REGIONAL GROWTH STRATEGY REFERENCE: 

N/A 

CITIZEN/PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT: 

While public engagement is not required, the SOFI report must be approved by Council and submitted to 

the Province by June 30th.   

Staff will inform the public based on the IAP2 Spectrum of Public Participation as noted below. 
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http://c.ymcdn.com/sites/www.iap2.org/resource/resmgr/imported/IAP2%20Spectrum_vertical.pdf 

 

 

OPTIONS:    

1: That Council approves the City of Courtenay Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) for the 
year ended December 31, 2018. (Recommended) 

2: That Council request a subsequent report and not approve the 2018 Statement of Financial 
Information. 

 

Prepared by:      Concurrence: 

     
Annie Bérard, CPA, CMA, MBA    Jennifer Nelson, CPA, CGA 
Manager of Financial Planning    Director of Financial Services 
 

 

Attachment: City of Courtenay, Statement of Financial Information for the year ended 
December 31, 2018 
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MANAGEMENT REPORT 

 

 

 

 

The Financial Statements contained in this Statement of Financial Information under the Financial 

Information Act have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian Public Sector 

Accounting Standards and are outlined under “Significant Accounting Policies” in the notes to the 

financial statements, and the integrity and objectivity of these statements are management’s 

responsibility.  Management is also responsible for all the statements and schedules, and for 

ensuring that this information is consistent, where appropriate, with the information contained in the 

financial statements. 

 

Management is also responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of internal controls to 

provide reasonable assurance that reliable financial information is produced. 

 

The Council of the City of Courtenay is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its 

responsibilities for financial reporting and internal control. 

 

The external auditors, MNP LLP, conduct an independent examination, in accordance with Canadian 

Public Sector accounting standards, and express their opinion on the financial statements.  Their 

examination does not relate to the other schedules and statements required by the Act.  Their 

examination includes a review and evaluation of the corporation’s system of internal control and 

appropriate tests and procedures to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements are 

presented fairly. 

 

On behalf of the Corporation of the City of Courtenay: 

 

 

 
      

Jennifer Nelson, CPA, CGA 

Director of Financial Services 

June 17, 2019 
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Mayor and Council of the City of Courtenay: 

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the City of Courtenay (the "City"), which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at December 31, 2018, and the consolidated statements of operations, change in net financial assets and cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of the City as at December 31, 2018, and the results of its consolidated operations, changes in net financial assets and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the City in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the City’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the City or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the City’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one

resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by management.

467 Cumberland Road, Courtenay, British Columbia, V9N 2C5, Phone: (250) 338-5464
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the

City’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention

in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,

future events or conditions may cause the City to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and

whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Courtenay, British Columbia

May 6, 2019 Chartered Professional Accountants
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STATEMENT A

2018 2017

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash on Hand and on Deposit (Schedule 5) 20,373,559$                             12,176,694$                
Receivables (Note 1i) 4,903,482                                 2,960,134                    
Term Deposits (Schedule 5) 28,209,106                               31,487,579                  

53,486,147                               46,624,407                  

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable (Note 1j) 9,863,827                                 7,051,630                    
Trust and Other Deposits 6,195,200                                 4,036,811                    
Deferred Revenue - Development Cost Charges (Note 6) 6,259,106                                 5,546,196                    
Deferred Revenue - Other (Note 8) 2,396,837                                 2,221,668                    
Long-Term Debt (Schedule 4) 11,458,117                               12,851,766                  

36,173,087                               31,708,071                  

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 17,313,060                               14,916,336                  

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Inventories 207,310                                    191,031                       
Prepaid Expenses 552,308                                    446,715                       
Tangible Capital Assets (Note 12 & Schedule 3) 145,878,140                             139,559,441                

146,637,758                             140,197,187                

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (Schedule 2) 163,950,818$                           155,113,523$              

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS (NOTE 2)

________________________________
Jennifer Nelson, CPA, CGA
Director of Financial Services

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.6123



STATEMENT B

2018
REVENUE Budget 2018 2017

(Note 13)

Taxes for Municipal Purposes 26,704,700$               26,905,048$                25,701,418$        

Sale of Services 15,068,500                 15,636,658                  14,934,108          
Revenue From Own Sources 3,300,700                   3,957,453                    3,384,772            
Federal Transfers 1,415,800                   1,237,229                    1,108,235            
Provincial Transfers 1,788,400                   4,368,365                    1,877,196            
Other Local Government Transfers 546,800                      209,114                       340,167               
Contributions 50,000                        4,158,398                    3,037,373            
DCC Revenue - 543,473                       149,539               
Investment Income and Taxation Penalties 812,500 1,149,368                    927,737               
Other 484,400 499,078                       739,066               
Gain on Sale of Tangible Capital Assets - 34,350                         51,105                 

TOTAL REVENUE 50,171,800                 58,698,534                  52,250,716          

EXPENSES

General Government Services 6,090,086                   6,410,965                    5,034,969            
Protective Services 9,998,125                   8,893,741                    8,919,927            
Transportation Services 7,551,268                   8,062,954                    7,399,060            
Sewer and Water Facilities 11,843,005                 11,751,671                  11,043,443          
Environmental Health Services 3,447,602                   3,664,589                    3,389,673            
Public Health and Welfare Services 329,813                      367,106                       383,499               
Environmental Development Services 1,410,083                   1,287,329                    1,350,794            
Recreational and Cultural Services 9,266,818                   9,149,613                    8,971,151            

TOTAL EXPENSES 49,936,800                 49,587,968                  46,492,516          

ANNUAL SURPLUS (Schedule 1) 235,000                      9,110,566                    5,758,200            

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 155,113,523               155,113,523                149,355,323        

-                                  (273,268)                      -                           

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS AT END OF YEAR 155,348,523$             163,950,818$              155,113,523$      

 CHANGE OF CONTROL IN SID WILLIAMS THEATRE SOCIETY (SWTS) SURPLUS 
REDUCTION (Note 7b) 

     THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY
     CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

     FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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STATEMENT C

2018
Budget 2018 2017

(Note 13)

ANNUAL SURPLUS 235,000$             9,110,566$               5,758,200$         

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (14,727,700)         (8,778,512)               (7,131,998)         
Amortization of tangible capital assets 4,425,000            5,450,879                 5,183,920          
(Gains)/losses and other adjustments to tangible capital assets -                          1,022,292                 437,222             
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets -                          74,586                      62,811               

Developer tangible capital asset contribution -                          (4,087,948)               (2,869,183)         
Change of control of SWTS surplus reduction (Note 7b) -                          (273,268)                  -                         

(10,302,700)         (6,591,971)               (4,317,228)         

Acquisition of supplies inventories -                          (663,437)                  (517,235)            
Acquisition of prepaid expense -                          (921,956)                  (492,414)            
Consumption of supplies inventories -                          636,213                    514,612             
Use of prepaid expense -                          801,176                    537,023             
Change of control of SWTS inventory and prepaids (Note 7b) -                          26,133                      -                         

-                          (121,871)                  41,986               

CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS (10,067,700)         2,396,724                 1,482,958          

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 14,916,336          14,916,336               13,433,378         

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS AT END OF YEAR 4,848,636$          17,313,060$             14,916,336$       

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
8125



STATEMENT D

2018 2017

CASH PROVIDED BY (APPLIED TO) FINANCING TRANSACTIONS

OPERATING TRANSACTIONS
Annual Surplus 9,110,566$               5,758,200$              

Changes in non-cash items
Amortization 5,450,879                 5,183,920                
Change in receivables (1,943,349)               218,706                   
Change in accounts payable 2,812,197                 (1,219,976)              
Change in trust and other deposits 2,158,389                 (705,692)                 
Change in deferred revenue 888,079                    1,876,493                
Change in inventories (16,279)                    (2,623)                     
Change in prepaids (105,593)                  44,610                     
Net (gains)/losses and other adjustments to tangible capital assets 1,022,292                 437,222                   
Developer Tangible Capital Asset Contribution (4,087,948)               (2,869,183)              
Actuarial adjustment (441,747)                  (386,693)                 
Change of control of SWTS cash flows (Note 7b) (273,268)                  -                              

14,574,218               8,334,984                

CAPITAL TRANSACTIONS
Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets (8,778,512)               (7,131,998)              

Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets 74,586                      62,811                     

(8,703,926)               (7,069,187)              

INVESTING TRANSACTIONS

Purchase of term deposits 3,278,473                 (78,097)                   

Cash Provided by (applied to) Investing Transactions 3,278,473                 (78,097)                   

FINANCING TRANSACTIONS

Repayment of long-term debt (951,900)                  (951,245)                 

Cash applied to Financing Transactions (951,900)                  (951,245)                 

INCREASE IN CASH ON HAND AND ON DEPOSIT 8,196,865                 236,455                   

CASH ON HAND AND ON DEPOSIT AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 12,176,694               11,940,239              

CASH ON HAND AND ON DEPOSIT AT END OF YEAR 20,373,559$             12,176,694$            

  Interest paid on outstanding debt and included in annual surplus above 604,010$                  635,742$                 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY
CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF SEGMENT DISCLOSURE BY SERVICE

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
(Audited)

SCHEDULE 1
(Note 11)
Page 1 of 2

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

REVENUE
Taxation 23,742,557             22,816,507           -                   -                    -                          -                    -                  -                   -                 -                   
Sales of Services -                          -                        880,487            933,633             -                          -                    3,385,701        3,201,028        -                 -                   
Revenue from Own Sources -                          -                        969,042            682,622             97,016                    130,868             -                  -                   -                 -                   
Government Transfers 1,311,012               1,359,000             19,200              300,373             4,105,692               1,259,640          -                  -                   79,604           103,870           
Transfer from Other Funds -                          -                        -                   -                    -                          -                    -                  -                   -                 -                   
Other Revenue 81,430                    87,010                  -                   -                    121,061                  141,500             -                  -                   138,828         167,440           
Other Contributions -                          -                        -                   -                    2,824,512               2,357,482          -                  -                   -                 -                   
Interest Earned 919,980                  804,432                14,898              3,735                 92,925                    49,964               -                  -                   -                 -                   
Actuarial Adjustment -                          -                        -                   -                    -                          -                    -                  -                   -                 -                   
Gain on sale of TCA 900                         9,369                    300                   -                    17,737                    33,336               -                  -                   -                 -                   
Total Revenues 26,055,879             25,076,318           1,883,927         1,920,363          7,258,943               3,972,790          3,385,701        3,201,028        218,432         271,310           

EXPENSES
Salaries and Benefits 3,862,230               3,365,498 2,028,793         2,081,233          2,470,821               2,382,224          66,410             51,637             250,400         233,328           
Goods and Services 1,212,412               1,186,907 6,482,558         6,467,288          2,431,965               1,811,402          3,126,043        3,011,456        85,777           122,419           
Amortization Expense 303,689                  240,240 352,734            352,012             2,816,126               2,743,677          319,600           315,948           30,929           27,752             
Debt Servicing (41,366)                   (35,375)                 (433)                 2,355                 146,989                  199,953             -                  -                   -                 -                   
Other Expenditures 246,982                  277,699 1,477                -                    1,019                      640                    152,200           8,000               -                 -                   
Loss on Disposal of TCA 827,018                  -                        28,612              17,039               196,034                  261,164             336                  2,632               -                 -                   
Total Expenses 6,410,965               5,034,969             8,893,741         8,919,927          8,062,954               7,399,060          3,664,589        3,389,673        367,106         383,499           

ANNUAL SURPLUS 19,644,914$           20,041,349$         (7,009,814)$     (6,999,564)$      (804,011)$               (3,426,270)$      (278,888)$       (188,645)$        (148,674)$     (112,189)$        

General
Government

Services
Protective
Services

Transportation
Services

Environmental
Health

Services

Public Health
and Welfare

Services
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY
CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF SEGMENT DISCLOSURE BY SERVICE

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
(Audited)

REVENUE
Taxation
Sales of Services
Revenue from Own Sources
Government Transfers
Transfer from Other Funds
Other Revenue
Other Contributions
Interest Earned
Actuarial Adjustment
Gain on sale of TCA
Total Revenues

EXPENSES
Salaries and Benefits
Goods and Services
Amortization Expense
Debt Servicing
Other Expenditures
Loss on Disposal of TCA
Total Expenses

ANNUAL SURPLUS

SCHEDULE 1
(Note 11)
Page 2 of 2

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

-                     -                    -                        -                    1,164,158             922,220            1,998,334         1,962,691          -             -               26,905,048            25,701,418        
-                     -                    -                        -                    6,505,181             5,826,949         4,865,289         4,338,650          -             633,848       15,636,658            14,934,108        

561,481             616,227             2,048,292             1,690,319          255,072                220,792            26,551              43,944               -             -               3,957,453              3,384,772          
52,621               28,958               129,310                180,547             99,129                  -                   18,140              -                    -             93,210         5,814,708              3,325,598          

-                     -                    -                        -                    -                        -                   -                   -                    -             -               -                        -                     
137,759             324,581             20,000                  18,535               -                        -                   -                   -                    -             -               499,078                 739,066             
223,889             41,000               354,501                118,068             566,455                379,007            732,514            243,033             -             48,322         4,701,871              3,186,912          

13,053               4,821                 14,317                  5,046                 42,445                  18,322              51,750              20,222               -             21,195         1,149,368              927,737             
-                     -                    -                        -                    -                        -                   -                   -                    -             -               -                        -                     
-                     -                    15,413                  8,400                 -                        -                   -                   -                    -             -               34,350                   51,105               

988,803             1,015,587          2,581,833             2,020,915          8,632,440             7,367,290         7,692,578         6,608,540          -             796,575       58,698,534            52,250,716        

899,836             804,788             4,921,832             4,152,743          972,987                648,115            511,384            444,095             -             665,604       15,984,693            14,829,265        
314,705             427,386             2,954,328             2,681,291          5,049,174             4,574,027         591,012            850,299             -             226,697       22,247,974            21,359,172        

2,533                 2,533                 898,864                842,040             427,823                403,958            298,581            255,758             -             -               5,450,879              5,183,918          
-                     -                    50,444                  69,364               (369)                     824                   6,998                11,928               -             -               162,263                 249,049             

70,255               116,087             322,655                309,529             -                            144                   3,890,928         3,670,687          -             -               4,685,516              4,382,786          
-                     -                    1,490                    23,883               2,585                    183,608            568                   -                    -             -               1,056,643              488,326             

1,287,329          1,350,794          9,149,613             8,078,850          6,452,200             5,810,676         5,299,471         5,232,767          -             892,301       49,587,968            46,492,516        

(298,526)$          (335,207)$         (6,567,780)$         (6,057,935)$      2,180,240$           1,556,614$       2,393,107$       1,375,773$        -             (95,726)$      9,110,566$            5,758,200$        

Services

Recreational
Other

Services
and Cultural

Services
Water Utility

Services
Sewer Utility

Services
Consolidated

Environmental
Development 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018  

 PAGE 1 OF 16 

The Corporation of the City of Courtenay was incorporated in 1915 under the provisions of the 

British Columbia Municipal Act.  Its principal activities are the provision of local government 

services to the residents of the Municipality. 

 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

(a) Basis of Presentation 

 

 It is the policy of the City to follow Canadian public sector accounting standards and to 

apply such principles consistently.  The consolidated financial statements include the 

operations of General, Water Utility, Sewer, Capital, and Reserve Funds.  Transactions 

between these funds have been eliminated on consolidation.  The consolidated financial 

statements have been prepared using guidelines issued by the Public Sector Accounting 

Board of CPA Canada.  The financial resources and operations of the City have been 

consolidated for financial statement purposes and include the accounts of all of the funds and 

equity in tangible capital assets of the City.  As part of the supplementary information, the 

resources and operation of the City are segregated into various funds for accounting and 

financial reporting purposes, each being treated as a separate entity with responsibility for 

the stewardship of the assets allocated to it. 

 

(b) Revenue and Expense Recognition 

 

Expenses are recorded in the period in which the goods or services are acquired and a liability 

is incurred. 

 

Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives of tangible capital assets. 

 

Revenue is recorded in the period in which the transactions or events that gave rise to the 

revenue occur.  Amounts that have been received from non-government sources in advance 

of services being rendered are recorded as deferred revenue until the City discharges the 

obligations that led to the collection of funds.  Following are the types of revenue received 

and a description of their recognition: 

 

Taxes for Municipal Purposes are recognized in the year levied. 

 

Sale of Services are recognized in the year that the service is provided or the amount is 

earned, provided the amount can be estimated and collection is reasonably assured.   

 

Revenues from own sources are recognized in the period in which the transactions or events 

that gave rise to the revenue occur or are earned, provided the amount can be estimated and 

collection is reasonably assured. 

 

The City recognizes a government transfer as revenue when the transfer is authorized and all 

eligibility criteria, if any, have been met.  A government transfer with stipulations giving rise 

to an obligation that meets the definition of a liability is recognized as a liability.  In such 

circumstances, the City recognizes revenue as the liability is settled.  Transfers of non-

depreciable assets are recognized in revenue when received or receivable. 

 

Contributions are recorded when the event giving rise to the contribution occurs. 

 

DCC Revenue is recorded in the year that it is used to fund a capital project and has been 

authorized by bylaw. 

 

 

12129



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018  

 PAGE 2 OF 16 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

Investment income, taxation penalties, and actuarial earnings are recorded in the year they are 

earned. 

 

(c) Accrued Payroll Benefits 

 

Earned but unpaid vacation is fully accrued and recorded in the consolidated financial 

statements. 

 

Post employment benefits are accrued and recorded in the consolidated financial statements.  

This amount is provided by an Actuary that the City has engaged.  

 

(d) Use of Estimates 

 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with Canadian public 

sector accounting standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 

liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of 

revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Accounts Receivable are stated after 

evaluation of their collectability.  Post employment benefits are calculated by an Actuary.  

Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives of tangible capital assets.  These estimates 

and assumptions are reviewed periodically and as adjustments become necessary they are 

reported in earnings in the periods in which they become known.   Liabilities for 

contaminated sites are estimated based on the best information available regarding potentially 

contaminated sites that the City of Courtenay is responsible for. 

  

(e) Non-financial assets 

 

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in 

the provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are 

not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. 

 

(f) Inventories 

 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and replacement cost. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018  

 PAGE 3 OF 16 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

(g) Tangible Capital Assets 

 

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, net of capital asset disposals, write-downs and 

amortization.  Tangible capital asset expenditures exceeding the following thresholds per 

major category are capitalized.  The average useful life is applied straight line to calculate 

amortization.  In the year of acquisition and disposal, amortization is taken at one-half of the 

calculated amounts. 

 

Major Asset Category Threshold Average Useful Life 

Land $1 Indefinite 

Land Improvements $10,000 Varies from 10 to 40 years 

Building $10,000 Varies from 25 to 60 years 

Vehicles, 

Machinery/Equipment 

$5,000 to $10,000 Varies from 5 to 25 years 

Engineering Structures   

    Roads $5,000 to $50,000 Varies from 10 to 60 years 

    Water $5,000 to $10,000 Varies from 8 to 80 years 

    Sewer $10,000 Varies from 8 to 60 years 

    Other – Includes Storm $10,000 Varies from 25 to 75 years 

Other Tangible Capital Assets 

(includes IT software) 

$5,000 5 years 

 

Carrying costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or development activity, 

excluding interest costs, are capitalized to the point in time the asset is substantially complete 

and ready for use.  Contributed tangible capital assets are recorded at their fair value on the 

date of contribution.  Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is in use. 

 

(h) Financial Instruments 

 

Financial Instruments consist of cash on hand and on deposit, term deposits, receivables, 

accounts payable, trusts and other deposits, and long-term debt.  It is management’s opinion 

that the Municipality is not exposed to significant interest, currency, exchange, or credit risk 

arising from these financial instruments. 

 

(h) Debt Charges 

 

Interest payments are charged against current fund balances in the period they become 

payable and have been accrued to December 31, 2018.  Actuarial adjustments are offset 

against interest charged.  Principal payments are applied directly to loan balances in the 

period they accrue. 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018  

 PAGE 4 OF 16 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

(i) Receivables 

 

 Following is a breakdown of receivables outstanding at December 31, 2018 with 2017 

comparatives:  

 

2018 2017

Federal Government 251,016$            226,908$        

Provincial Government 2,802,609           659,170          

Regional and other Local Governments 189,455              275,880          

Property Taxes 860,963              955,208          

Other 799,439              842,968          

Total Receivables 4,903,482$         2,960,134$       
 

(j)      Accounts Payable 

 

 Following is a breakdown of accounts payable and accrued liabilities outstanding at 

December 31, 2018 with 2017 comparatives: 

 

2018 2017

Federal Government 1,355,232$            1,348,962$      

Provincial Government 85,303                  78,412            

Regional and other Local Governments 1,189,404              724,355          

Employee Retirement Benefits (Note 10) 1,023,084              944,400          

Trade and accrued liabilities 6,210,804              3,955,501       

Total Accounts Payable 9,863,827$            7,051,630$       
  

(k) Liability for Contaminated Sites      

 

A liability for remediation of a contaminated site is recognized at the best estimate of the 

amount required to remediate the contaminated site when; contamination exceeding an 

environmental standard exists, the City of Courtenay is either directly responsible or accepts 

responsibility, it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up, and a reasonable 

estimate of the amount is determinable.  The best estimate of the liability includes all costs 

directly attributable to remediation activities and is reduced by expected net recoveries based 

on information available at December 31, 2018. 

 

At each financial reporting date, the City of Courtenay reviews the carrying amount of the 

liability.  Any revisions required to the amount previously recognized is accounted for in the 

period when revisions are made.  The City of Courtenay continues to recognize the liability 

until it is settled or otherwise extinguished.  Disbursements made to settle the liability are 

deducted from the reported liability when they are made. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

(l) Adoption of New Accounting Standards 

 

PS 2200 Related Party Disclosures 

Effective January 1, 2018, the City adopted the recommendations relating to PS 2200 Related 

Party Disclosures, as set out in the CPA Canada public sector accounting standards. Pursuant 

to the recommendations, the change was applied prospectively, and prior periods have not 

been restated. 

This new Section defines a related party and establishes disclosures required for related party 

transactions. Disclosure of information about related party transactions and the relationship 

underlying them is required when they have occurred at a value different from that which 

would have been arrived at if the parties were unrelated, and they have, or could have, a 

material financial effect on the financial statements.  

There was no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of adopting the new 

Section.  

 

PS 3420 Inter-entity Transactions 

Effective January 1, 2018, the City adopted the recommendations relating to PS 3420 Inter-

entity Transactions, as set out in the CPA Canada public sector accounting standards. 

Pursuant to the recommendations, the change was applied prospectively, and prior periods 

have not been restated. 

The new Section establishes standards on how to account for and report transactions between 

public sector entities that comprise a government’s reporting entity from both a provider and 

recipient perspective. The main features of the new Section are: 

 Under a policy of cost allocation, revenues and expenses are recognized on a gross basis. 

 Transactions are measured at the carrying amount, except in specific circumstances. 

 A recipient may choose to recognize unallocated costs for the provision of goods and 

services and measure them at the carrying amount, fair value or other amount dictated by 

policy, accountability structure or budget practice. 

 The transfer of an asset or liability for nominal or no consideration is measured by the 

provider at the carrying amount and by the recipient at the carrying amount or fair value. 

 Inter-entity transactions are considered in conjunction with PS 2200 Related Party 

Disclosures. 

There was no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of adopting the new 

Section.  
 

PS 3210 Assets 

Effective January 1, 2018, the City adopted the recommendations relating to PS 3210 Assets, 

as set out in the CPA Canada Public Sector Accounting Handbook. Pursuant to the 

recommendations, the change was applied prospectively, and prior periods have not been 

restated. 

The new Section provides guidance for applying the definition of assets set out in PS 1000 

Financial Statement Concepts. The main features of this standard are as follows: 

 Assets are defined as economic resources controlled by a government as a result of past 

transactions or events and from which future economic benefits are expected to be 

obtained. 

 Economic resources can arise from such events as agreements, contracts, other 

government’s legislation, the government’s own legislation, and voluntary contributions. 

 The public is often the beneficiary of goods and services provided by a public sector 

entity. Such assets benefit public sector entities as they assist in achieving the entity's 

primary objective of providing public goods and services. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

 A public sector entity’s ability to regulate an economic resource does not, in and of itself, 

constitute control of an asset, if the interest extends only to the regulatory use of the 

economic resource and does not include the ability to control access to future economic 

benefits. 

 A public sector entity acting as a trustee on behalf of beneficiaries specified in an 

agreement or statute is merely administering the assets, and does not control the assets, as 

future economic benefits flow to the beneficiaries. 

 An economic resource may meet the definition of an asset, but would not be recognized if 

there is no appropriate basis for measurement and a reasonable estimate cannot be made, 

or if another Handbook Section prohibits its recognition. Information about assets not 

recognized should be disclosed in the notes. 

 

There was no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of adopting the new 

Section.  
 

PS 3320 Contingent Assets 

Effective January 1, 2018, the City adopted the recommendations relating to PS 3320 

Contingent Assets, as set out in the CPA Canada Public Sector Accounting Handbook. 

Pursuant to the recommendations, the change was applied prospectively, and prior periods 

have not been restated. 

The new Section establishes disclosure standards on contingent assets. The main features of 

this standard are as follows: 

 Contingent assets are possible assets arising from existing conditions or situations 

involving uncertainty. That uncertainty will ultimately be resolved when one or more 

future events not wholly within the public sector entity's control occurs or fails to occur. 

Resolution of the uncertainty will confirm the existence or non-existence of an asset. 

 Passing legislation that has retroactive application after the financial statement date 

cannot create an existing condition or situation at the financial statement date.  

 Elected or public sector entity officials announcing public sector entity intentions after 

the financial statement date cannot create an existing condition or situation at the 

financial statement date. 

 Disclosures should include existence, nature, and extent of contingent assets, as well as 

the reasons for any non-disclosure of extent, and the bases for any estimates of extent 

made.  

 When a reasonable estimate can be made, disclosure should include a best estimate and a 

range of possible amounts (or a narrower range of more likely amounts), unless such a 

disclosure would have an adverse impact on the outcome. 

There was no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of adopting the new 

Section.  
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2. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 

 

(a) Regional District debt is, under the provisions of the Local Government Act (Section 

836), a direct, joint and several liability of the District and each member municipality 

within the District, including the Corporation of the City of Courtenay.  Readers are 

referred to the Comox Valley Regional District 2018 Audited Financial Statements for 

specific information and detail. 

 

(b) Principal repayments on long-term debt in each of the next five years are estimated as 

follows: 

2019 934,845$        

2020 935,534          

2021 885,800          

2022 810,918          

2023 733,004          

4,300,101$      

 
 

(c) The Municipality is obligated to collect and transmit the tax levies of the following 

bodies: 

 

Provincial Government – Schools 

Comox Valley Regional District 

Comox-Strathcona Regional Hospital District 

Municipal Finance Authority 

British Columbia Assessment Authority 

Vancouver Island Regional Library 

Downtown Courtenay Business Improvement Area 

 

These levies are not included in the revenues of the Municipality. 

 

(d) As at December 31, 2018, there existed outstanding claims against the City.  These 

claims have been referred to legal counsel and to the City’s liability insurers.  It is not 

possible to determine the City’s potential liability, if any, with respect to these matters. 

Management has determined that any potential liabilities arising from these outstanding 

claims are not significant. 
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3. PENSION LIABILITY 

 

The employer and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed 

pension plan).  The board of trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible 

for administering the plan, including investment of the assets and administration of benefits.  The 

plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan.  Basic pension benefits provided are based 

on a formula.  As at December 31, 2017, the plan has about 197,000 active members and 

approximately 95,000 retired members.  Active members include approximately 39,000 

contributors from local government. 

 

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan 

and adequacy of plan funding.  The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and 

member contribution rate to fund the plan.  The actuary’s calculated contribution rate is based on 

the entry-age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and employer 

contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan.  This rate may 

be adjusted for the amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability. 

 

The most recent valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2015, indicated a 

$2.224 billion funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.  As a result of 

the 2015 basic account actuarial valuation surplus and pursuant to the joint trustee agreement, 

$1.927 billion was transferred to the rate stabilization account and $297 million of the surplus 

ensured the required contribution rates remained unchanged.  

 

The City of Courtenay paid $1,042,964 (2017 - $939,145) for employer contributions to the plan 

in fiscal 2018. 

 

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2018, with results available in 2019. 

 

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer 

contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting).  This is 

because the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the plan in aggregate with the 

result that there is no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to 

the individual employers participating in the plan. 

 

 

4. HOST FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AGREEMENT 

 

The City of Courtenay is a host community for a casino gaming facility operated under agreement 

with the British Columbia Lottery Corporation.  The City receives a percentage of the net gaming 

income generated by the Chances Courtenay Gaming Centre to be used for public benefit through 

a quarterly unrestricted transfer from the Province of British Columbia.       
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5. FEDERAL GAS TAX AGREEMENT FUNDS  

 

Gas Tax Agreement funding is provided by the Government of Canada.  The use of the funding is 

established by a funding agreement between the local government and the Union of British 

Columbia Municipalities.  Gas Tax Agreement funding may be used towards designated public 

transit, community energy, water, wastewater, solid waste and capacity building projects, as 

specified in the funding agreements.   

 

The City of Courtenay received the first contribution of Gas Tax funding in 2005 and reports the 

balance in a General Fund Reserve – New Works Community Gas Tax Funds (Schedule 2) until 

it is used to fund the specified projects outlined in the funding agreement.  Interest is accrued and 

allocated monthly to the balance. 

 

Following is a schedule of Gas Tax receipts and disbursements received in 2018 with 

comparatives to 2017.   
  

 

2018 2017

Opening Balance of Unspent Funds 3,517,375$          4,733,397$   

Additions:

Amounts Received During the Year 1,119,960 1,083,236

Interest Earned 48,701                 29,466          

Deductions:

Amount Spent on Projects (2,731,332)           (2,328,724)    

Closing Balance of Unspent Funds 1,954,704$          3,517,375$    
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6. DEFERRED REVENUE - DEVELOPMENT COST CHARGES 

 

In order to conform with the Public Sector Accounting Standards of CPA Canada, the unspent 

development cost charges have been recorded as a liability.  Following is a breakdown of cash 

increases and decreases for the General, Water, and Sewer development costs charge reserves for 

2018 and 2017. 
 

Water Sewer Sewer 

General Utility Utility Utility

Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserve

DCC DCC DCC DCC 2018

BL #2840 BL #2840 BL #2840 BL #1638 Total

Balance Forward 4,314,899$   594,553$    602,938$    33,806$     5,546,196$   

Increases

  Interest 64,900          8,485         9,834         448            83,667         

  Other Contributions 982,379        45,968       144,369     1,172,715     

1,047,279     54,453       154,203     448            1,256,383     

Decreases

  Revenue Recognized to Fund Capital Projects (246,866)       (159,300)    (137,307)    -                (543,473)      

Ending Balance Deferred Revenue - DCC 5,115,312$   489,706$    619,834$    34,254$     6,259,106$   

Water Sewer Sewer 

General Utility Utility Utility

Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserve

DCC DCC DCC DCC 2017

BL #2840 BL #2840 BL #2840 BL #1638 Total

Balance Forward 3,450,709$   529,837$    467,447$    33,608$     4,481,601$   

Increases

  Interest 21,924          3,265         3,147         198            28,534         

  Other Contributions 991,805        61,451       132,344     -                1,185,600     

1,013,729     64,716       135,491     198            1,214,134     

Decreases

  Revenue Recognized to Fund Capital Projects (149,539)       -                -                -                (149,539)      

Ending Balance Deferred Revenue - DCC 4,314,899$   594,553$    602,938$    33,806$     5,546,196$   

2017

2018
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7. TRUST AND ENDOWMENT FUNDS 

 

(a) The Cemetery Perpetual Care Fund has been assigned to the City to be administered as 

directed by statute.  The City holds the assets for the benefit of, and stands in fiduciary 

relationship to, the beneficiary.  Following is a summary of the financial position and 

activities for 2018 and 2017, which has been excluded from the City’s consolidated financial 

statements.  

 

CEMETERY PERPETUAL CARE FUND CEMETERY PERPETUAL CARE FUND

FINANCIAL POSITION FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES

2018 2017 2018 2017

Financial Assets Revenue

  Cash on Hand 101,292$      88,440$      Fees Levied 14,299$         10,590$   

  Investments - MFA 242,228        238,312      Interest Revenue 5,711            3,242      

Liabilities Expenditure

  Interest Payable to City 5,711           3,242          Interest Expense 5,711            3,242      

Net Financial Position 337,809$      323,510$  Excess Revenue over Expenditure 14,299$         10,590$    
 

 

(b) Effective June 30, 2018, the Sid Williams Theatre Society (SWTS) updated its constitution 

and bylaws to conform with the new BC Societies Act.  The new bylaws remove the City’s 

control (as defined by Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards) therefore the City has 

removed the balances and transactions of the Society from these financial statements as of 

June 30, 2018. 

 

8. DEFERRED REVENUE – OTHER 

 

Other Deferred Revenue recorded in the Liability section of the City’s Consolidated Financial 

Statements consists of the revenues related to business license revenue levied and to be 

recognized in future years, Government transfers received prior to revenue recognition criteria 

being met.  Following is a breakdown of the change in this balance for 2018 and 2017: 

 
 

2018 2017

Opening Balance 2,221,668$      1,409,770$         

Additions to Deferred Revenue 1,561,741        2,221,668          

Revenue Recognized (1,386,572)       (1,409,770)         

Ending Balance Deferred Revenue Other 2,396,837$      2,221,668$         

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

22139



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018  

 PAGE 12 OF 16 

9. MFA DEBT RESERVE FUNDS 

 

The City secures its long term borrowing through the Municipal Finance Authority.  As a 

condition of these borrowings a portion of the debenture proceeds are retained by the Authority as 

a debt reserve fund.  These funds are not reported in the financial statements as they are 

eliminated upon consolidation.  As at December 31, 2018 the City had debt reserve funds of 

$334,600 ($333,765 in 2017). 

 

 

10. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFIT LIABILITY 

 

Employees with 10 years of continuous service retiring under the terms of the Municipal 

Superannuation Act are entitled to a payout of up to 72 days of their accumulated unused sick 

leave bank and up to a maximum of 8 additional severance days for each year of service in which 

the employee used no sick leave.  Additionally, upon death of the employee, the bank, up to a 

maximum of 72 days, will be payable to the employee’s life benefit beneficiary.  The value of 

this liability is calculated by an Actuary engaged by the City and reflects the likelihood that all 

eligible City employees will become entitled to this benefit.  Actuarial valuation assumptions for 

2018 were based on an interest (discount) rate of 3.20% per annum (2017 - 3.0%) and an inflation 

rate of 2.5% for both 2018 and 2017.  The total estimated employee retirement benefit liability at 

December 31, 2018 is $1,023,500 ($944,400 in 2017) and is included in the accounts payable 

balance on Statement A.  Following is a breakdown of the benefit liability: 

 

2018 2017

Accrued benefit liability at beginning of year 944,400$           926,000$        

Expense 144,445             100,861          

Benefit Payments (65,345)             (82,461)           

Accrued benefit liability at end of year 1,023,500$        944,400$        
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11. CONSOLIDATED SEGMENT DISCLOSURE BY SERVICE 

 

The City of Courtenay Consolidated Financial Statements includes the financial activities of 

various services made available to the community.  Following is a description of the types of 

services included in each of the main service segments of the City’s financial statements.  A 

detailed summary of the 2018 revenues and expenses with 2017 comparatives for each segment 

can be found in Schedule 1 of the accompanying financial statements. 

 

General Government Services 

Provide services related to general corporate and legislative administration as well as human 

resources, information technology, financial management, and revenues received from the 

Province related to gaming. 

 

Protective Services 

Includes services related to providing fire protection, bylaw enforcement, and building inspection 

to the City, as well as the City’s share of expenses related to providing police protection to the 

Comox Valley. 

 

Transportation Services 

Includes the delivery of municipal public works services related to planning, development and 

maintenance of roadway systems, street lighting, and other public works and engineering related 

services. 

 

Environmental Health Services 

Includes services related to the collection of garbage, recycling, and yard waste, as well as 

environmental testing and monitoring. 

 

Public Health and Welfare Services 

Includes cemetery services. 

 

Environmental Development Services 

 Includes services related to planning, zoning, sustainability, and hotel taxes, as well as actions 

 relating to homelessness. 

 

Recreational and Cultural Services 

Provides recreation and leisure services to the community and includes parks and facilities that 

allow for fitness, aquatic, cultural, and other activities for the public to enjoy.  

 

Water Utility Services 

Provides for the delivery of water to users and includes the planning, development and 

maintenance of the City’s water infrastructure. 

  

Sewer Utility Services 

Provides for the delivery of sewerage removal and includes the planning, development and 

maintenance of the City’s sewer infrastructure. 

 

Other Services 

Includes the 2017 operations of the Sid Williams Theatre Society (SWTS). 
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12.  TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSET DETAILS 

(See Schedule 3 for further details) 

 

Contributed capital assets received and recognized in the year from developers, for various 

infrastructure works and related land and parks, and recorded in the consolidated financial 

statements in 2018 is $4,087,948 ($2,869,183 in 2017). 

 

Tangible capital assets include land under the City’s roads, recorded at a nominal amount. 

  

Art and historic treasures are displayed at various city facilities and consist of paintings, historical 

photographs, sculptures, carvings, and other cultural artefacts.  These items have not been 

included in tangible capital assets due to the inability of estimating future benefits associated with 

such property.  
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13. RESTATEMENT OF 2018 BUDGET  

 

The budget amounts presented throughout these consolidated financial statements are based upon 

the Five Year Financial Plan approved by Council on April 16, 2018 except in regard to budget 

amounts for amortization, tangible capital assets, and the use of debt, reserves and prior year 

surpluses. 

 

The summary below shows the adjustments to the April 16, 2018 budget approved by Council 

and reflected in these consolidated financial statements: 

 

Adjustments to 2018 Budgeted Annual Surplus

Budgeted Surplus per Council approved Budget -$                           

Purchase of Capital Assets 14,727,700                 

Amortization Budgeted (4,425,000)                  

Transfer from Reserves (12,621,400)                

Transfer to Reserves 3,393,600                   

Use of Prior Year Surplus (1,791,700)                  

Debt principle repayments in Financial Plan 951,800                      

Budgeted Surplus per Consolidated Statement of Operations 235,000$                    
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14. CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS 

  

Effective January 1, 2018, the City adopted the recommendations relating to PS 3380 Contractual 

Rights, as set out in the CPA Canada Public Sector Accounting Handbook. Pursuant to the 

recommendations, the change was applied prospectively, and prior periods have not been restated. 

This new Section establishes disclosure standards on contractual rights, and does not include 

contractual rights to exchange assets where revenue does not arise. The main features of this standard 

are as follows: 

 Contractual rights are rights to economic resources arising from contracts or agreements that will 

result in both an asset and revenue in the future. 

 Until a transaction or event occurs under a contract or agreement, an entity only has a contractual 

right to an economic resource. Once the entity has received an asset, it no longer has a contractual 

right. 

 Contractual rights are distinct from contingent assets as there is no uncertainty related to the 

existence of the contractual right. 

 Disclosures should include descriptions about nature, extent, and timing. 

 

Following is the breakdown of the contractual rights at December 31, 2018: 

 
Contractual Right with Description of Contractual Right 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Total

Courtenay Fire Protection District Courtenay Fire Protection 411,503   419,733 428,128 436,690  445,424 2,141,478$  

Comox Valley Regional District Merville and Tsolum Farnham Fire Protection 244,710   249,605 254,597 259,689  264,883 1,273,484$   
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SCHEDULE 3

(Audited)

Land Equipment/ Other
Land Improvements Buildings Furniture/ Roads Water Sewer Other Tangible Total 2017

Vehicles Capital Assets

COST

Opening Balance Construction-in-progress (CIP) -                     177,147             309,796            151,830           534,349              133,061            24,240               28,242             1,358,665$          1,359,289           

  Add:  Construction-in-progress (CIP) -                     -                    211,077            3,154,486           1,357,230         284,462              109,549             -                  5,116,804            733,478              

  Less:  Transfers into Service -                     (116,736)           (27,303)             (133,737)          -                      -                    -                     -                     -                  (277,776)              (543,849)            

  Less:  Writedowns & Reallocations -                     -                    -                    -                   -                      -                    -                     -                     -                  -                      (190,253)            

Closing Balance Construction-in-progress -                     60,411               493,570            18,093             3,688,835           1,490,291         284,462              133,789             28,242             6,197,693            1,358,665           

Opening Balance Tangible Capital Assets 22,019,647         6,683,709          30,825,298        17,655,958      93,060,236         20,877,437        10,898,201         22,048,762        1,092,975        225,162,223        216,779,169       

  Add:  Writedown -                     -                    -                    -                   -                      -                    -                     -                     -                  -                      -                     

  Add:  Additions (including Transfers into Service) 836,500              503,777             831,678            1,351,921        1,873,938           900,803            789,888              938,927             -                  8,027,432            9,811,551           

  Less:  Disposals (827,018)             (16,700)             (30,700)             (402,603)          (310,371)             (7,650)               (1,704)                (1,008)                -                  (1,597,754)           (1,428,495)         

Closing Balance Tangible Capital Assets and CIP 22,029,129         7,231,197          32,119,846        18,623,369      98,312,638         23,260,881        11,970,847         23,120,470        1,121,217        237,789,594        226,520,890       

ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION

Opening Balance -                     2,827,228          11,218,340        10,519,187      44,886,319         6,760,327         1,884,532           8,186,831          678,685           86,961,449          82,896,245         

  Add:  Writedown -                     -                    -                    -                   -                      -                    -                     -                     -                  -                      -                     

  Add:  Amortization -                     252,490             781,037            827,709           2,365,067           395,170            209,085              516,870             103,451           5,450,879            5,183,920           

  Less:  Accum Amortization on Disposals -                     (16,700)             (29,210)             (332,208)          (115,884)             (5,065)               (1,136)                (672)                   -                  (500,874)              (1,118,716)         

-                     3,063,018          11,970,167        11,014,688      47,135,502         7,150,432         2,092,481           8,703,029          782,136           91,911,454          86,961,449         

Net Book Value for year ended

December 31, 2018 22,029,129$       4,168,179$        20,149,679$      7,608,681$      51,177,136$       16,110,449$      9,878,366$         14,417,441$       339,081$         145,878,140$      139,559,441       

Engineering Structures

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY
CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
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SCHEDULE 4

Principal Current Actuarial Principal
Maturity Interest Outstanding Year Adjustment/ Outstanding

Bylaw Number Date Rate Dec 31/17 Borrowing Princ. Reduction Dec 31/18

General Capital Fund

Debenture Debt
2171 Library 2021 3.05             711,341              -                   165,040              546,301                  
2266 Infrastructure Works - MFA 2018 4.78             35,096                -                   35,096                -                              
2266 Fifth Street Bridge 2023 5.15             215,704              -                   32,520                183,184                  
2304 Lerwick Road Ext. Prop Acquisition 2029 4.86             628,869              -                   39,509                589,360                  
2227 City Hall Retaining Wall 2020 5.00             39,935                -                   12,793                27,142                    
2354 Repaving Program 2025 5.75             230,567              -                   26,346                204,221                  
2355 Lerwick Road Extension 2030 5.75             447,441              -                   26,911                420,530                  
2356 City Hall Renovation 2020 5.50             212,155              -                   67,963                144,192                  
2425 Lerwick Road Construction 2026 4.66             393,915              -                   37,222                356,693                  
2453 Police Property Acquisition 2026 4.43             782,086              -                   73,901                708,185                  
2458 Public Works Maintenance Building 2022 4.52             630,633              -                   116,432              514,201                  
2539 Capital Infrastructure Work 2023 4.13             1,700,469           -                   215,296              1,485,173               
2538 Native Sons Hall Renovation 2025 4.50             363,330              -                   39,431                323,899                  
2680 Lewis Centre Renovation 2027 2.90             3,063,912           -                   255,196              2,808,716               
2681 Infrastructure Works - Road Paving 2027 2.90             1,138,025           -                   94,788                1,043,237               
TOTAL GENERAL CAPITAL FUND 10,593,478         -                   1,238,444           9,355,034               

Water Capital Fund

Debenture Debt
2424 Water Extension - Lerwick Road 2026 4.66             328,262              -                   31,017                297,244                  
TOTAL WATER CAPITAL FUND 328,262              -                   31,017                297,244                  

Sewer Capital Fund

Debenture Debt
2305 Sewer Extension 2029 4.86             471,653              -                   29,633                442,020                  
2353 Sewer Extension 2030 5.00             1,259,225           -                   75,734                1,183,491               
2423 Sewer Extension - Lerwick Road 2026 4.66             199,146              -                   18,818                180,328                  
TOTAL SEWER CAPITAL FUND 1,930,026           -                   124,185              1,805,839               

TOTAL ALL CAPITAL FUNDS 12,851,766         -                   1,393,646           11,458,117             

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY
CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF DEBENTURE AND OTHER LONG-TERM DEBT

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
(Audited)
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Statement of Financial Information

(as required under the Financial Information Act)

Remuneration and Expense Payments

Elected Official Remuneration Expenses

Jangula, Larry Mayor 54,670$        4,184$          

Frisch, David Councillor 22,729$        5,665$          

Hillian, Douglas A. Councillor 22,729$        4,516$          

Eriksson, Erik Councillor 20,107$        1,822$          

Theos, Manno Councillor 23,229$        4,562$          

McCollum, Melanie Councillor 2,623$          -$              

Lennox, Rebecca Councillor 20,107$        1,372$          

Wells, Robert Councillor / Mayor 27,237$        7,997$          

Cole-Hamilton, Will Councillor 2,623$          492$             

Morin, Wendy Councillor 2,623$          -$              

TOTALS 198,680$      30,610$        

Benefits

Insurance Policy Coverage:  Personal Accident Insurance, Mayor and Council

  Industrial Alliance Pacific Insurance & Financial Services

  Principal Sum: 250,000$     

  Weekly Accident Indemnity: 750$            

  Accidental Dental Reimbursement Benefit: 5,000$         

  Accidental Medical Reimbursement Benefit: 25,000$       

Total premium - all members 350$             

Section 107 Disclosure of Contracts with Council Members 

and Former Council Members

No contracts

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY

2018 Report of Remuneration and Expenses of

Elected Officials

Prepared under the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, Section 6
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY

Statement of Financial Information
(as required under the Financial Information Act)

Statement of Salaries, Wages and Expenses for the Year 2018

Employee Position Total Remuneration Expenses
(Includes Taxable Benefits)

Adams, I Engineering Technologist 76,145$                 3,409$                   
Allen, D Chief Administrative Officer 175,647$               9,019$                   
Armstrong, R. Manager of Infrastructure Planning 95,762$                 6,202$                   
Bardonnex, D. Fire Chief 118,544$               3,072$                   
Beatson, D. Land Use Planner 77,224$                 321$                      
Bell, M Parks Utility Supervisor 78,054$                 99$                        
Berard, A. Manager of Business Performance 86,213$                 3,357$                   
Boguski, B. Roads Foreman 83,300$                 1,688$                   
Borecky, N. Information Systems Manager 90,740$                 814$                      
Brand, B. Water Foreman 95,399$                 344$                      
Buck, I. Director of Development Services 125,597$               2,398$                   
Carmichael, S. Turfgrass Supervisor 77,801$                 1,057$                   
Chan, J. Manager of Business Administration 86,926$                 2,676$                   
Coelho, N Roads 2 79,478$                 -$                       
Collins, K. Manager of Recreation Programming 94,420$                 2,210$                   
Craven, D. Carpenter 75,928$                 -$                       
Dojack, T. Carpenter 78,551$                 385$                      
Doty, L. Engineering Technologist 76,902$                 345$                      
Featherstone, B Equipment Operator 75,068$                 -$                       
Feucht, R. Development Engineer 110,055$               1,281$                   
Fisher, K. Sewer Foreman 97,204$                 1,767$                   
Guderjahn, B. Manager of Purchasing 94,839$                 1,616$                   
Guillo, A. Manager of Communications 94,789$                 -$                       
Henderson, D. Deputy Fire Chief / Training Officer 101,232$               2,382$                   
Jernslet, E. Manager of Civic Properties Mtce. 91,361$                 -$                       
Johns, T. Horticulture Supervisor 78,757$                 163$                      
Kearns, M Manager of Parks 95,453$                 5,119$                   
Kellinghusen, J. Equipment Operator 76,388$                 70$                        
Kerr, C. EVT / Fire Inspector & Volunteer Firefighter 94,146$                 882$                      
Kitching, L. Pay & Benefits Coordinator 75,073$                 2,544$                   
Knapman, P. Occupational Health & Safety Coordinator 88,135$                 6,627$                   
Kushner, T. Director of Public Works 136,025$               4,629$                   
Lamb, G. Fire Inspector & Volunteer Firefighter 100,602$               1,833$                   
Law, C. Engineering Technologist 76,154$                 826$                      
Love, D. Senior Advisor - Strategic Initiatives 124,923$               3,540$                   
MacDonald, K. Deputy Fire Chief 102,636$               4,068$                   
Millar, C. Manager of Recreation Facilities Operations 93,970$                 -$                       
Moore, B Shop Foreman 85,183$                 614$                      
Nelson, J. Director of Financial Services 107,652$               2,837$                   
O'Grady, R. Director of Engineering Services 127,428$               11,932$                 
Perry, C. Manager of Transportation & Utilities - Engineering 111,638$               1,131$                   
Reid, R. Manager of Human Resources 101,915$               420$                      
Rose, L. Utilities Construction Foreman 91,965$                 1,889$                   
Salmon, D. Network Coordinator 83,058$                 9,084$                   
Schleppe, S Utilities Mtce - Water 2 75,576$                 1,572$                   
Setta, T. Manager of Planning 95,490$                 1,255$                   
Shaw, D. Public Works Inspector 82,044$                 99$                        
Shaw, K. Manager of Transportation & Utilities - Public Works 113,436$               4,591$                   
Snider, D. Director of Recreation & Cultural  Services 126,766$               4,542$                   
Sorichta, W. Manager of Corporate Services Administration 95,355$                 1,895$                   
Strachan, D. Roads Foreman 88,294$                 -$                       
Sweeney, T Manager of Building Admin Services 84,835$                 1,491$                   
Thompson, C. Asset Management Technician 76,216$                 1,592$                   
Ward, J. Director of Legislative Services / Deputy CAO 140,339$               870$                      
Welsh, J. Fire Inspector & Volunteer Firefighter 90,993$                 2,032$                   
Wood, I Mechanic 80,035$                 -$                       

Total for employees where remuneration is > $75,000 5,337,656$            122,589$               

Consolidated total for employees where 
remuneration < $75,000 7,709,296$            63,041$                 

Elected Officials, direct payments 198,680$               30,610$                 

TOTALS 13,245,632$          216,239$               

Statement of Severance Agreements
There were two severance agreements under which payment commenced between the City of Courtenay and its unionized and 
non-unionized employees during the fiscal year 2018.  

These agreements represent from 1 to 8 months of compensation.

Prepared under the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, subsection 6(7)

Prepared under the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, Section 6
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Vendor Name  Amount Paid YTD 2018 
7 STORY CIRCUS 48,781                                          

ABOVE & BEYOND TREE SERVICE 39,304                                          

ACME SUPPLIES LTD 32,754                                          

ACS COMPUTER SOLUTIONS 54,704                                          

ACTIVE NETWORK, THE 47,690                                          

ANDERSEN'S NURSEY LTD 27,980                                          

ANDREW SHERET LTD 229,858                                        

AON REED STENHOUSE INC 209,857                                        

ASSOCIATED ENGINEERING (B.C.) LTD. 143,214                                        

ASSOCIATED FIRE & SAFETY 32,076                                          

BADGER DAYLIGHTING LP 61,680                                          

BC ASSESSMENT AUTHORITY 275,656                                        

BC HYDRO 753,447                                        

BC LIFE AND CASUALTY COMPANY 199,043                                        

BEE CLEAN BUILDING MAINTENANE 27,329                                          

BERKS INTERTRUCK LTD 87,892                                          

BLACK PRESS GROUP 61,114                                          

BRIAN MCLEAN CHEVROLET BUICK GMC LTD 29,563                                          

BUMPER TO BUMPER 63,435                                          

C3 MAINLINE INSPECTIONS INC. 199,899                                        

CAMPBELL RIVER SHAKE & SHINGLE CO. LTD. 72,240                                          

CENTRAL BUILDERS' SUPPLY LTD 91,421                                          

CI INVESTMENTS 52,211                                          

CINDERELLA'S CLEANING SERVICES LTD. 53,095                                          

CIVICINFO BC 29,350                                          

COMMISSIONAIRES (THE) 357,205                                        

COMOX BAY SAILING CLUB 30,114                                          

COMOX VALLEY BOBCAT & EXC LTD 67,796                                          

COMOX VALLEY ECONOMIC 163,717                                        

COMOX VALLEY MARTIAL ARTS & FITNESS 38,571                                          

COMOX VALLEY REGIONAL DISTRICT 18,606,514                                  

COPCAN CIVIL LIMITED 2,441,159                                     

CORIX WATER PRODUCTS LTD PARTNERSHIP 119,951                                        

COURTENAY & DISTRICT MUSEUM 131,212                                        

COURTENAY DOWNTOWN BUSINESS ASSOC 60,300                                          

CUMBERLAND READY MIX LTD 54,951                                          

CUMBERLAND SAND & GRAVEL LTD 32,961                                          

CUMBERLAND, VILLAGE OF 33,656                                          

CUPE LOCAL  556 129,801                                        

D.K.I SERVICES LTD. 71,222                                          

DIAMOND HEAD CONSULTING 89,646                                          

DILLON CONSULTING LTD. 79,358                                          

E B HORSMAN & SON 41,979                                          

EDGETT EXCAVATING 524,330                                        

EMTERRA ENVIRONMENTAL 1,715,880                                     

ESC AUTOMATION 91,044                                          

ESRI CANADA 71,565                                          

FACILITY CONDITION ASSESSMENT PORTFOLIO EXPERTS LTD. 119,708                                        

FINELINE ROAD MARKING 30,671                                          

FINNING (CANADA) 333,006                                        

FORBIDDEN CONCRETE 31,984                                          

FORTIS BC ‐ NATURAL GAS 57,446                                          

FRASERWAY PREKAST LTD 25,767                                          

GOAL ENGINEERING 45,360                                          

GREEN ROOTS PLAY EQUIPMENT INC. 59,805                                          

GROW TREE CARE 69,350                                          

GUILLEVIN INTERNATIONAL INC 82,464                                          

HARRIS OCEANSIDE CHEVROLET BUICK GMC LTD. 52,056                                          

HOULE ELECTRIC LTD. 272,883                                        

IMS INFRASTRUCTURE MANAGEMENT SERVICES 41,325                                          

INFINITE ROAD MARKING LTD. 123,875                                        

INTERNATIONAL WEB EXPRESS INC. 33,980                                          

KNAPPETT INDUSTRIES (2006) LTD 761,646                                        

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY

Statement of Individual Vendors Paid
(as required under the Financial Information Act)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
Prepared under the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, Section 7
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Vendor Name  Amount Paid YTD 2018 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY

Statement of Individual Vendors Paid
(as required under the Financial Information Act)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
Prepared under the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, Section 7

LAFARGE CANADA INC 27,194                                          

LEIGHTON CONTRACTING (2009) LTD 264,414                                        

LIDSTONE & COMPANY 55,703                                          

LUXTON 131,250                                        

MCELHANNEY CONSULTING 103,691                                        

MEDICAL SERVICES PLAN 92,250                                          

METRO MOTORS LTD 256,958                                        

MEYERS NORRIS PENNY LLP 54,320                                          

MICROSOFT LICENSING GP 60,617                                          

MINISTER OF FINANCE 3,902,483                                     

MONK OFFICE SUPPLY LTD 135,720                                        

MUNICIPAL INSURANCE ASSOC OF 203,641                                        

MYRA SYSTEMS CORP. 119,249                                        

NELSON ROOFING AND SHEET METAL LTD 111,548                                        

NORTH ISLAND TRACTOR LTD 143,416                                        

OAKCREEK GOLF & TURF INC 165,817                                        

PACIFIC AUDIO WORKS 35,760                                          

PACIFIC BLUE CROSS 636,143                                        

PARKLAND REFINING (BC) LTD 225,497                                        

PBX ENGINEERING LTD. 63,945                                          

PERFECT MIND TECHNOLOGY INC. 52,266                                          

PILON TOOL RENTALS (1972) LTD 69,732                                          

PIPE‐EYE VIDEO INSPECTIONS & SERVICES LTD. 37,002                                          

PLANET CLEAN COURTENAY 41,696                                          

POSTAGE‐ON‐CALL 26,000                                          

PRAIRIE SIDE EQUIPMENT LTD. 26,225                                          

R HENN & ASSOCIATES 26,022                                          

RAYLEC POWER LTD 70,051                                          

RECEIVER GENERAL FOR CANADA ‐ PAYROLL 3,444,579                                     

RECEIVER GENERAL FOR CANADA ‐ RCMP 5,128,956                                     

REGIONAL HOSPITAL DIST OF COMOX‐STRATHCONA 4,177,374                                     

SCHOOL DISTRICT NO 71 30,239                                          

RICOH CANADA INC 51,992                                          

SID WILLIAMS THEATRE SOCIETY 228,158                                        

STRATEGIC DYNAMICS 25,890                                          

TAYCO PAVING 1,580,228                                     

TELUS COMMUNICATIONS (BC) 75,073                                          

TELUS MOBILITY (BC) 76,531                                          

TLC HOME & PROPERTY MAINT 261,713                                        

TOWER FENCE PRODUCTS 59,859                                          

UNIVERSITY OF OTTAWA 30,000                                          

URBAN SYSTEMS LTD. 1,798,994                                     

VANCOUVER ISLAND REGIONAL LIBRARY 1,288,732                                     

VAROOM STUDIOS 25,928                                          

WAYPOINT INSURANCE 69,322                                          

WEST ISLAND CAPITAL CORPORATION 35,457                                          

WESTERN TRAFFIC 151,038                                        

WESTERRA EQUIPMENT 44,096                                          

WISHBONE INDUSTRIES LTD. 72,060                                          

WOLSELEY CANADA 27,342                                          

WORKERS COMPENSATION BOARD 251,505                                        

YOUNG ANDERSON 52,594                                          

TOTAL VENDORS OVER $25,000 56,144,117                                  

TOTAL VENDORS LESS THAN $25,000 3,296,849                                       

TOTAL PAID TO ALL VENDORS 59,440,966                                    
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SCHEDULE OF GUARANTEE AND INDEMNITY AGREEMENTS 

 

 

The City of Courtenay describes guarantees and indemnities in the Notes to the 

Consolidated Financial Statements.  For 2018, the schedule and additional notes are not 

required and have been omitted. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION APPROVAL 
 
 
 
 
The undersigned, as authorized by the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, 
subsection 9(2), approves all the statements and schedules included in this Statement of 
Financial Information, produced under the Financial Information Act. 
 
 
 
 
             
Bob Wells      Jennifer Nelson, CPA, CGA 
Mayor       Director of Financial Services 
        
 
             
Date       Date 
 
 

35152



Office of the Chief Administrative Officer  
 
600 Comox Road, Courtenay, BC V9N 3P6 
Tel: 250-334-6000     Fax: 250-334-4358 
Toll free:  1-800-331-6007 
www.comoxvalleyrd.ca 
 

 

File: 5380-03 
 
May 8, 2019 
 

Sent via email only:  dallen@courtenay.ca 
 

David Allen 
Chief Administrative Officer 
City of Courtenay 
830 Cliffe Avenue 
Courtenay BC V9N 2J7 
 
Dear Mr. Allen: 
 
Re: Regional Organics Compost Facility Expansion Project – Organics Infrastructure Program 
 
Following the Comox Strathcona Waste Management Board direction in March of this year, we are planning 
to submit an application to the Organics Infrastructure Program (OIP). As part of the application process, 
we need to submit a letter of support from project partners before June 22, 2019. 
 
At the March 7, 2019 Comox Strathcona Waste Management Board meeting, the following resolutions were 
approved: 

THAT the Comox Valley Regional District on behalf of the Comox Strathcona Waste Management service submit 
a grant application for the Regional Organics Compost facility expansion project through the Organics Infrastructure 
Program;  
 
AND FURTHER THAT the Comox Valley Regional District (Comox Strathcona Waste Management) Board 
confirm its support of the project and commits to fund its share of the $1,364,450 project cost. 

 
We would appreciate if the City of Courtenay could prepare a letter of support for this application. 
 
Enclosed is a letter of support template for your consideration. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
R. Dyson 
 
Russell Dyson 
Chief Administrative Officer 
 
Enclosure 
 
cc: Ryan O’Grady, Director of Engineering Services, City of Courtenay 
 Marc Rutten, General Manager Engineering Services 
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May           , 2019 

Mr. Bob Wells, Chair 
Comox Strathcona Waste Management Service 
Comox Valley Regional District 
600 Comox Road 
Courtenay BC   V9N 3P6 
 

Dear Mr. Wells: 

Re: Regional Organics Compost Facility Expansion Project – Organics Infrastructure Program 
 
The X X X  would like to express our support for an application by the Comox Strathcona Waste 
Management (CSWM) Service to the Organics Infrastructure Program, for the Regional Organics Compost 
facility expansion project, to increase organic diversion from being landfilled. 
 
In 2017, the Comox Valley Regional District (CVRD) was awarded a grant of up to $5.5 million from the New 
Building Canada Fund to construct a regional organics composting facility. Based on the current waste 
generation estimates, the compost facility requires an additional 1,625 tonnes/year of capacity over the initial 
planned organics project. 
 
An organics processing facility would reduce methane greenhouse gas emissions from decomposing organic 
material and increase the lifespan of the CSWM service landfill. 
 
The XXX is pleased to support the CVRD’s application on behalf of the CSWM Service to the Organics 
Infrastructure Program for the Regional Organics Compost Facility expansion project. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Name 
Title 
 
cc.   
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2019 PROVINCIAL APPOINTMENT BOOK 
 

Meeting Requests with 
 

Provincial Government Staff 
from Ministries, Agencies, Commissions and 

Corporations (MACC) 
 

at the  
 
 

2019 UBCM CONVENTION 
 

September 23 – 27, 2019 
Vancouver Convention Centre 
Vancouver, British Columbia 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

155



Provincial Appointment Book 2019 UBCM Convention P a g e  | 1 

Table of Contents 

 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................... 2 

Meeting Requests .......................................................................................................................... 2 

Honourable John Horgan, Premier and Cabinet Ministers  (except Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing) .................... 2 

Honourable Selina Robinson, Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing ............................................................................... 2 

Provincial Government Staff Ministries, Agencies, Commissions and Corporations (MACC)................................................... 2 

Ministries, Agencies, Commissions and Corporations (MACC) Meeting Information ............................................................. 3 

Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training ................................................................................................................ 4 

Ministry of Agriculture .............................................................................................................................................................. 4 

Ministry of Attorney General.................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Ministry of Attorney General Continued… ............................................................................................................................... 6 

Ministry of Children and Family Development ......................................................................................................................... 7 

Ministry of Children and Family Development Continued… .................................................................................................... 8 

Ministry of Citizens’ Services .................................................................................................................................................... 9 

Ministry of Education ............................................................................................................................................................. 10 

Ministry of Energy, Mines and Petroleum Resources ............................................................................................................ 10 

Ministry of Energy, Mines and Petroleum Resources Continued… ........................................................................................ 11 

Ministry of Environment and Climate Change Strategy ......................................................................................................... 12 

Ministry of Finance ................................................................................................................................................................. 13 

Ministry of Forests, Lands, Natural Resource Operations and Rural Development............................................................... 13 

Ministry of Health ................................................................................................................................................................... 14 

Ministry of Indigenous Relations and Reconciliation ............................................................................................................. 15 

Ministry of Jobs, Trade and Technology ................................................................................................................................. 16 

Ministry of Labour .................................................................................................................................................................. 17 

Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions ............................................................................................................................. 18 

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing ............................................................................................................................. 18 

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing Continued… ......................................................................................................... 19 

Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General ...................................................................................................................... 19 

Ministry of Social Development and Poverty Reduction ........................................................................................................ 20 

Ministry of Tourism, Arts and Culture .................................................................................................................................... 20 

Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure ....................................................................................................................... 21 

Provincial Agencies, Commissions and Corporations ............................................................................................................. 22 

Provincial Agencies, Commissions and Corporations Continued… ........................................................................................ 23 

  

156



Provincial Appointment Book 2019 UBCM Convention P a g e  | 2 

Introduction 
 

The Provincial Appointment Book is provided to help schedule meetings at the 2019 UBCM Convention.  All 
Provincial Government Ministries, Agencies, Commissions and Corporations (MACC) with staff attending the 
Convention and available to meet with local government delegates, are listed.  Links to meeting requests forms 
with the Premier and Cabinet Ministers, and the Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing are also included. 
 

Meeting Requests 
 

Honourable John Horgan, Premier and Cabinet Ministers  
(except Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing) 

 
Click: https://UBCMreg.gov.bc.ca 
 
Invitation Code:  MeetingRequest2019 (case sensitive) 
 
Deadline:  Wednesday, July 17, 2019  
 
Questions:  Contact the Premier’s UBCM Meeting Request Coordinator, by email at: 
UBCM.Meetings@gov.bc.ca, or by telephone at:  250 213-3856. 

 
 

Honourable Selina Robinson, Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing 

 
Click: Municipal Affairs and Housing Minister’s Meeting Requests 
 
Deadline:  Wednesday, July 17, 2019  
 
Questions:  Contact the Minister’s UBCM Meeting Request Coordinator, Nicole Gibbings, by 
email at:  MAH.UBCM.MeetingRequests@gov.bc.ca, or by telephone at:  778 698-3203. 

 
 

Provincial Government Staff 
Ministries, Agencies, Commissions and Corporations (MACC) 

 
Click: Provincial Staff (MACC) Meeting Requests 
 
Deadline:  Friday, August 23, 2019  
 
Questions:  Contact the UBCM MACC Meeting Request Coordinator, Laura Smith, by email at 
MAH.UBCM.MeetingRequests@gov.bc.ca, or by telephone at: 778 698-3263. 
 
Once Provincial Government MACC Staff meetings are scheduled, confirmation will be sent to local 
governments via email. 

157

https://ubcmreg.gov.bc.ca/
mailto:UBCM.Meetings@gov.bc.ca
https://www.civicinfo.bc.ca/UBCMMeetingRequest/MAH
mailto:MAH.UBCM.MeetingRequests@gov.bc.ca
https://www.civicinfo.bc.ca/UBCMMeetingRequest/Staff
mailto:MAH.UBCM.MeetingRequests@gov.bc.ca


Provincial Appointment Book 2019 UBCM Convention P a g e  | 3 

 
 

Ministries, Agencies, Commissions and Corporations (MACC) Meeting Information 

 
ON-SITE PROVINCIAL APPOINTMENTS DESK 
 
Provincial Appointments Desk staff will be available to schedule meetings with Provincial Government MACC 
Staff at the following locations: 
 
 Monday, September 23, 2019 to Tuesday, September 24, 2019 

Vancouver Convention Centre, East Building - Lobby 
8:30 am – 4:00 pm  
 
Wednesday, September 25, 2019 – Thursday, September 26, 2019 
Vancouver Convention Centre, East Building – Exhibition Hall C 
8:30 am – 4:00 pm  

 
MEETING LOCATIONS WITH PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT MACC STAFF AT CONVENTION: 
 

Tuesday, September 24, 2019  
Pan Pacific Hotel, R Level – Cypress Suite 
 
Wednesday, September 25, 2019 to Thursday, September 26, 2019 
Vancouver Convention Centre, East Building – Exhibition Hall C 

 
 

Questions:  Contact the MACC UBCM Meeting Request Coordinator, Laura Smith, by email at 
MAH.UBCM.MeetingRequests@gov.bc.ca, or by telephone at: 778 698-3263. 
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Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills and Training 

DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 

Governance, Legislation and 
Corporate Planning Division 

Post-secondary governance, legislation, sector quality assurance, private career 
training regulation, data support, audit, institutional accountability, corporate 
planning, international education, intergovernmental relations, and sector labour 
relations. 

Post-Secondary Policy and 
Programs and Division 
Responsible for Learner 
Supports 

25 public post-secondary institutions and their programs including skills and training, 
Aboriginal Education, Adult Basic Education, English Language Learning, strategic 
policy, StudentAid BC, Science, Technology, Engineering and Math (STEM), and medical 
and health. 

Finance, Technology and 
Management Services and 
Division Responsible for 
Student Housing 

Operating and capital grants to 25 public post-secondary institutions (PSIs), FTE and PSI 
financial health monitoring and reporting, Ministry’s 10 year capital plan, PSI property 
acquisition and disposition, manage Ministry budget, maintain Ministry IT systems and 
digital information security, Administrative Service Delivery Transformation Initiative, 
lead Ministry’s business continuity and emergency response readiness with PSIs. 
Leading the development of 5000 additional student housing beds on Post-Secondary 
campuses in B.C. 

Workforce Innovation and 
Division Responsible for 
Skills Training 

Development and management of targeted labour market programs, policies, the 
dissemination of labour market information, and oversight of the Industry Training 
Authority to help British Columbians advance their skills and employment and support 
employers to meet their workforce needs. 

Ministry of Agriculture 

DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 

Food Safety and Inspection 
Branch 

Responsible for administration, compliance and enforcement of provincial legislation 
related to slaughter of meat, and food safety related to processing of seafood 
products. Also responsible for administration of food safety programs for farmers, 
ranchers and food processors under the federal/provincial/territorial Canadian 
Agricultural Partnerships (CAP) agreement.  

Corporate Governance, 
Policy and Legislation 

Responsible for providing corporate planning, resources and services to the Executive 
and ministry including ministry data reporting and dissemination, policy, legislation, 
Intergovernmental Relations, trade for agriculture and Seafood policy.   

Plant and Animal Health The Plant and Animal Health Branch supports the sustainability of animal and plant 
agriculture, while serving to protect the well-being of the people of the province 
through surveillance, regulatory compliance, risk assessment, and the development of 
strategies to address identified risks. The Plant and Animal Health Branch consists of 
three key programs: The Animal Health Centre, the Livestock Management and 
Regulatory Unit, and the Plant Health Unit.  

Innovation and Adaptation 
Service Branch 

Provides innovative solutions to the agriculture, food and seafood sectors as essential 
parts of the social and economic fabric of B.C.; facilitates competition, adaptation and 
innovation in response to economic, environmental, social influences and market 
change. 
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Ministry of Attorney General 

DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 

Associate Deputy Minister’s 
Office 

Responsible for oversight of three Crown corporations (ICBC, BC Lottery Corporation 
and BC Liquor Distribution Branch) and two regulatory agencies (Gaming Policy and 
Enforcement Branch and Liquor & Cannabis Regulation Branch): 

-ICBC provides universal auto insurance to B.C. drivers and is responsible for driver 
licensing and vehicle registration and licensing.  

-The BC LDB is one of two branches of government responsible for the beverage alcohol 
industry. It operates 197 BC Liquor Stores, 1 BC Cannabis Store (including its online 
portal), two Wholesale Customer Centres and four Distribution Centres; it is one of the 
largest retailers in B.C. 

-The BC Lottery Corporation conducts and manages gambling in a responsible manner 
while focusing on innovation, strategic partnerships and community outreach. 

-The Gaming Policy and Enforcement Branch regulates all gambling in B.C., including 
both commercial and charitable gambling 

- Liquor & Cannabis Regulation Branch regulates BC’s liquor industries and private retail 
non-medical cannabis industries. It issues liquor and non-medical cannabis licences and 
permits, and enforces legislative and regulatory conditions of these licences and 
permits. 

The ADMO is also the co-lead (with the Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General) 
for the current Traffic Fine Revenue Sharing agreement consultation. 

BC Prosecution Service Approving and conducting criminal and regulatory prosecutions. 

Initiating and responding to appeals. 

Providing criminal law advice to the government. 

Developing policies and procedures on the administration of criminal justice. 

Collaborating with partners and stakeholders on justice reform initiatives. 

Justice Services Branch Promoting access to justice through funding and oversight of legal aid programs, 
collaborative solutions to criminal justice problems through the integration of justice, 
health and social services, and overseeing the Province’s commitment to 
federal/provincial/territorial criminal justice reform initiatives. 

Promoting access to justice through dispute resolution alternatives, procedural 
efficiencies and case management in civil courts, agencies, boards, commissions, 
tribunals, and government ministries. 

Facilitating resolution of family disputes and operating justice access centres, family 
justice centres and the Parenting After Separation program. 

Facilitating the successful payment of child and spousal support orders in the province 
through Maintenance Enforcement and Locate Services. 

Co-leading the partnership between the province and the BC Aboriginal Justice Council 
to collaboratively develop a future-focused Indigenous Justice Strategy and implement 
a portfolio of projects intended to realize the vision.  The Indigenous Justice Strategy 
endeavours to reduce the overrepresentation of Indigenous people in the justice 
system as well as improve experiences within the justice system. 

Coordinating regular Justice Summits to consult with major justice participants and 
stakeholders. 
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Ministry of Attorney General Continued… 

Court Services Branch  

Court Services Branch includes court administration, the BC Sheriff Service, and 
Headquarters.  Court Administration includes court clerks and registry 
staff.  Registry staff are responsible for accepting and processing court 
documents and forms filed in all three levels of court in the areas of criminal, 
civil, family, divorce, adoption, probate and bankruptcy law. Court clerks are 
responsible for accurately capturing detailed information for court 
appearances that occur in courtrooms province-wide, while managing the flow 
of cases in court and supporting the judiciary. 

The BC Sheriff Service (BCSS) is responsible for ensuring the safety and security 
of the public, the judiciary, crown counsel and CSB staff in courthouses and 
other court venues across the province.  Duties include escorting accused 
persons, convicted persons and persons confined under the Mental Health 
Act between court locations and correctional institutions as well as escort to 
hospitals. BCSS oversees the jury administration and selection process for 
Supreme Court criminal and civil trials as well as Coroner’s Inquests. They also 
conduct threat assessments for high-security/high-profile trials and individuals 
through the Integrated Threat Assessment Unit.  

CSB Headquarters supports day-to-day frontline service and undertakes 
financial management, data analytics, facilities planning, and human resource 
support as well as business and technology transformation, policy/ legislative 
development, and training. 

 

Legal Services Branch Responsible for advising the B.C. government, its ministers and officials on all matters 
of law.  LSB provides legal and legislative services to government and supports the 
Attorney General in his role as official legal advisor to government.     
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Ministry of Children and Family Development 

DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 

Strategic Priorities / 
Strategic Initiatives 

The Strategic Initiatives Branch is responsible for leadership, oversight and 
coordination of key ministry priorities and leads a variety of complex, large-scale and 
cross-divisional projects in collaboration across the ministry. The branch’s current 
projects are: 

• reviewing funding provided to Family-Based Caregivers;  

• improving Youth Transitions; 

• supplementary youth-focused projects 

Strategic Priorities/ Strategic 
Services Branch 

The Strategic Services Branch consists: Strategic Planning & Engagement, Project 
Management & Lean Services, Implementation and Change Management, 
Intergovernmental Relations: 
Strategic Planning & Engagement directs planning, reporting, internal 
communications and staff engagement. This team provides strategic advice to 
executive; leads ministry-wide planning and assists divisions when required; reports 
on priority initiatives; directs internal engagement; and manages internal web 
services. 
Project Management & Lean Services supports the development of new projects and 
the continuous improvement of existing ministry services and programs. This team 
handles priority projects; promotes project management practice; helps divisions 
streamline processes; facilitates Lean and project management capacity building; and 
creates and provides resources for Lean improvement. 
Implementation & Change Management coordinates the rollout of new initiatives 
and plans for their human impact. This team develops the quarterly Implementation 
Schedule; manages implementation through the Implementation Table; 
communicates priorities ministry-wide; develops plans for engaging and supporting 
staff during change; supports leaders managing organizational transitions; offers 
training and online tools for change management; and measures impact of 
implementation and change activities. 
Intergovernmental Relations supports the ministry’s formal relations and executive 
engagements with other governments. This team provides leadership in 
intergovernmental collaborations; leverages opportunities to advance ministry 
priorities; contributes to the development of positions; manages contributions to 
national and international reporting; and shares developments in social sectors of 
other governments. 

Strategic Priorities/ Strategic 
Integration Branch 

The Strategic Integration Branch works collaboratively with senior leadership and 
subject matter experts across the ministry and within the division to enhance 
collaboration and integration across the four strategies of the Strategic Framework. 
The branch is responsible for: tracking, issues management and reporting of key 
Framework milestones and deliverables; ensuring the voice of Service Delivery 
Division and Practice is included in the development and implementation of the 
Framework; and oversight and coordination of consultations across the ministry on all 
major strategies and work plans. 
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Ministry of Children and Family Development Continued… 

 

Policy and Legislation Child Welfare and Adoption Policy. 
Child and Youth Mental Health Policy and school-based mental health (EASE program) 
Legislation and Litigation. 
Research, including the ministry’s research approval process 

Early Years and Inclusion The Early Years and Inclusion Division leads the development and implementation of 
BC’s Childcare BC plan, policy and provincially-delivered programs for the early years 
and children and youth with special needs.  
Childcare BC: 

• New Spaces Fund  

• Funding for UBCM Child Care New Spaces Grants 

• Funding for UBCM Child Care Planning Grants 

• BC Maintenance Fund 

• Start-up Grants 

• Child Care Fee Reduction Initiative 

• Affordable Child Care Benefit 

• Child Care Operating Funding 

• Early Childhood Educator (ECE) Wage Enhancement  

• Funding for ECE Bursaries 

• ECE Registry 
Early Years Policy and Programs: 

• Early Years Service Framework 

• Aboriginal Service Innovations – Early Years grants 

• Aboriginal Head Start 
Policy and Provincial Programs for Children and Youth with Special Needs (CYSN): 

• CYSN Service Framework 

• Autism Funding Program 

• Medical Benefits Program 

• Autism Information Services 
Provincial Deaf and Hard of Hearing Services 

Service Delivery Division Service Delivery Division is committed to providing children, youth and families across 
the province with an effective, integrated and coordinated service delivery system.  
The division is responsible for the delivery of community services, working closely 
with Delegated Aboriginal Agencies, foster caregivers and the community social 
service sector.  Divisional staff also work in collaboration with other ministry divisions, 
social sector partners, schools, Health Authorities, and First Nations communities to 
implement ministry and government strategic initiatives. 

163



Provincial Appointment Book 2019 UBCM Convention P a g e  | 9 

Ministry of Citizens’ Services 

DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 

Corporate Information and 

Records Management Office 

Provides corporate information management services to government including: 
Freedom of Information; proactive disclosures of information; privacy, records 
management and elements of information security.  Additional related responsibilities 
include the development of corporate information management strategies, legislation, 
policies, standards, training and compliance. 

Service BC (SBC) Service BC is government’s chief provider of citizen and business centred services. The 
division enables the design and delivery of accessible, responsive and cost-effective 
services, making it easier for citizens and businesses to interact with government. 
Through a provincial network of 65 offices and the provincial contact center, SBC 
provides hundreds of services for more than 30 partner ministries and agencies. These 
services can range from improving citizens’ experiences accessing income assistance 
services through partnership with Ministry of Social Development and Poverty 
Reduction to the renewal of a driver’s licence on behalf of ICBC. Through BC Registries 
and Online Services, we register and maintain businesses, societies and personal 
property through BC online and other online services. SBC also delivers secure and 
privacy-enhancing identity services for citizens and businesses to support access to 
digital government services and information.  

Procurement and Supply The Division plays a leadership role in government procurement and supply services.  
These activities serve the provincial government, the broader public sector, the public 
and, in some cases, municipalities.  For example, municipalities use BC Bid to provide 
venders with information on upcoming procurement operations and Asset Investment 
Recovery to dispose of municipal surplus assets in a convenient, environmentally 
friendly manner that returns a fair market value to the municipality. 

Real Property The Real Property Division provides everything needed to design, set up and manage a 
government workplace.  RPD is responsible for the Province’s real estate portfolio 
(excluding schools, post-secondary institutions and hospitals), office space inventory, 
parking, related legislation, furniture procurement, project and construction 
management, and real estate services for special-purpose facilities (such as 
courthouses, laboratories and correctional facilities). RPD provides cost-effective 
services for environmental management, leasing, facilities management, strategic real 
estate advice, acquisitions, dispositions and workplace planning. RPD’s client base 
includes ministry (mandated) as well as broader sector (voluntary) customers. 

Office of Chief Information 

Officer 

The OCIO supports the transformation of government services through integration, 
collaboration and innovation.  It leads strategy, policy and standards that support 
digital government and information management including information technology, IT 
security, integrated data, privacy and the management of the Information 
Management/IT investment portfolio for the Province. The OCIO is responsible for the 
Province’s technology infrastructure and provides a range of corporate enablers to 
support digital service delivery and business transformation for government and 
Broader Public Sector organizations.    

Information, Communication 

and Technologies 

Provides leadership and expertise for the expansion, coordination and provisioning of 
telecommunications services, vendor management, innovation, and technology that 
enable the digital transformation of government work environments and communities 
in every corner of the Province. The Division provides guidance on planning for 
telecommunications infrastructure investment to municipal and regional governments 
and oversees the Connecting British Columbia program.  The Division further provides 
a leadership role in supporting government and broader public sector goals for 
economic development, health, education and public safety by enabling an innovative 
and digital government through maximizing value from IT investments and closing the 
digital divide for British Columbians.  
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Ministry of Education 

DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 

Libraries Branch The Libraries Branch works together with public library boards, library staff and local 
government to improve and ensure the public’s access to information, resources, and 
services under the Library Act.  Responsible for areas covering legislation, provincial 
funding, digital infrastructure, provincial-wide services and provincial policies. 

Capital Division The Capital Division establishes and administers the Ministry of Education’s Capital 
Program, estimated at $550 million annually, and includes the following program areas:  
Annual Facilities Grant, Seismic Mitigation, New and Additional Schools, Replacement 
Schools, Routine Capital Investment, Building Envelope Program, Bus Replacement 
Program and the Carbon Neutral Capital Program.  The Division establishes the Capital 
Objectives, the priorities for capital investment across the province through the 
ministry’s Capital Planning process, establishes the Capital Standards, defines the scope 
of capital investments, establishes contractual relationship with school districts, 
enforces contractual requirements and processes payments. 

Resource Management and 
Corporate Services Division 

The Resource Management and Corporate Services Division is responsible for the 
oversight and management of approximately $6 billion in operating funding to the K-
12 sector; the K-12 funding formula; and school district shared services initiatives. In 
addition, the division is responsible for the ministry’s overall budget and financial 
oversight and a wide range of corporate services: financial services; strategic human 
resources; correspondence; Freedom of Information requests; risk management; and 
planning/reporting. 

Ministry of Energy, Mines and Petroleum Resources 

DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 

 

Mines Competitiveness and 
Authorizations Division 

 Public Geoscience, Policy and Competitiveness, Indigenous Engagement, Tenures 
Process, Fair, effective and transparent authorizations, Regional operations and 
Mineral Development. 

Electricity and Alternative 
Energy Division 

The Division is responsible for British Columbia’s electricity and alternative energy 
sectors, including BC Hydro.  These sectors are made up of diverse interests that 
develop electricity generation, transmission and distribution infrastructure, clean or 
renewable energy sources, including biomass, biogas, hydrogen, geothermal, hydro, 
solar, ocean, wind and low- carbon transportation fuels, and advance energy efficiency.  

The Division focuses on increasing electrification and energy efficiency across the 
economy, reducing the carbon intensity of transportation fuels, expanding electric 
vehicle infrastructure, and implementing programs to reduce energy use and 
greenhouse gas emissions in the residential, commercial and industrial sectors.  

The Division is responsible for B.C.’s low-carbon energy market transformation, driving 
a range of actions to support all stages of clean energy development and adoption.  The 
Division also administers the Innovative Clean Energy (ICE) Fund, a special account used 
to further the energy and environmental priorities of the government. 

Oil Infrastructure Group Responsible for facilitating the development and implementation of interprovincial oil 
pipelines and related infrastructure projects that benefit British Columbia through 
liaising with oil transmission pipeline proponents and providing the central point of 
contact on proposed interprovincial oil transmission pipelines to British Columbia's 
coast. 
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Ministry of Energy, Mines and Petroleum Resources Continued… 

Oil and Gas Division Responsible for management of the province's oil and gas resources, including 
disposing and administering subsurface oil and gas tenures, facilitating infrastructure 
development to improve access to oil and gas resources; developing and implementing 
policies and programs, including the province's royalty regime; consulting with First 
Nations and other stakeholders; and engaging in external relations and providing 
information to the public. Develops legislation and regulations for B.C.’s oil and gas 
industry and sets policy for the province’s regulator, the BC Oil and Gas Commission. 

Also responsible for negotiating and implementing agreements with other 
governments, First Nations, and non-governmental organizations regarding the fiscal, 
regulatory, scientific, health, safety, environmental, socio-economic, and financial 
aspects of oil and gas development.  

Responsible for development of the province's liquefied natural gas (LNG) industry and 
other industries that add value to British Columbia's oil and gas resources to strengthen 
and further diversify the provincial economy, including engagement with proponents, 
joint venture and investment interests, and liquefied natural gas and value-added gas 
importing countries; project implementation; and the development of a value-added 
oil and gas industry. 

Supports engagement on cross-jurisdictional issues relating to liquefied natural gas and 
value-added oil and gas, including financial and economic analysis; and relationship 
building with stakeholders and participation in relevant conferences and forums. 

Strategic and Indigenous 
Affairs Division 

Responsible for leadership and support in strategic planning and reporting; marketing 
and  outreach, budget estimates; risk framework; supporting Clean BC ; regulatory 
reform; managing Crown Corporation planning and reporting requirements; Provides 
leadership and support in cross ministry policy and intergovernmental relations; 
building investor confidence in mining through outreach; and positioning B.C.’s 
interests/objectives in the Canadian Energy Strategy and Energy and Mines Ministers’ 
Conference.  

Also, responsible for the management of the ministry’s Indigenous relations; 
contributing to reconciliation with Indigenous nations; support for Indigenous nations 
policy development relating to mining and other specific initiatives; support for Treaty 
Land Entitlement negotiations; UNDRIP implementation; and support for negotiations 
with Indigenous nations on specific issues.  

Leads implementation of the Environmental Stewardship Initiative (ESI), and also 
responsible for the management of the legislative and legal affairs of the ministry. 

Woodfibre Implementation 
Group 

Responsible for facilitating the development and implementation of the Woodfibre LNG 
facility by liaising with federal, provincial, municipal governments and First Nations. 
Providing a central point of contact for the proponent of Woodfibre LNG on regulatory 
and issues management. 
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Ministry of Environment and Climate Change Strategy 

DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 

BC Parks Responsible for all matters (policy, planning and management) of conservation, 
recreation and cultural values in the province’s parks and protected areas. 

Climate Change Strategy Province-wide coordination and management with other ministries of systems to 
address and respond to climate change including CleanBC, CleanBC Communities Fund, 
adaptation planning and engagement, climate policy, energy and the Climate Action 
Charter commitments in association with Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing, and 
Ministry of Energy, Mines and Petroleum Resources legislated short and long-term, 
province-wide greenhouse gas reduction targets, carbon tax, Carbon Neutral 
Government (Public Sector Organizations - schools, universities and colleges and 
hospitals), carbon offsets, Climate Solutions and Clean Growth Advisory Council and 
climate action pieces of legislation related to climate change including: Greenhouse Gas 
Industrial Reporting and Control Act, Climate Change Action Accountability Act (formerly 
called Greenhouse Gas Reduction Targets Act), Carbon Tax, Greenhouse Gas Reduction 
(Emissions Standards), Greenhouse Gas Reduction (Renewable and Low Carbon Fuel 
Requirements Act, Greenhouse Gas Reduction (Vehicle Emissions Standards) Act, and 
Clean Energy Act.  

Conservation Officer Service A natural resource law enforcement agency responsible for enforcing federal and 
provincial statutes, public safety as it relates to human-wildlife conflict and interactions, 
commercial environmental and industrial investigations and compliance and 
enforcement activities. 

Environmental Assessment 
Office 

Environmental assessment (EA) process.  Federal EA Substitution and Equivalency.  
Relationship to federal environmental assessment and review processes, including 
National Energy Board (NEB).  Compliance and enforcement of certified projects.  Public 
consultation regarding EAs or EA certificate amendment applications. Environmental 
Assessment Revitalization and the new Environmental Assessment Act. 

Environmental Protection 
Division 

Air quality, reducing toxins, pollution prevention, environmental emergencies/ 
provincial spill response, Environmental Management Act, contaminated sites, 
brownfields, hazardous and industrial waste, Integrated Pest Management Act, 
extended producer responsibility, recycling, zero waste, circular economy, waste 
management (incineration, landfilling, municipal liquid and solid waste), permitting and 
compliance reporting for industrial operations’ emissions. 

Environmental Sustainability 
and Strategic Policy 

Species at Risk policy and legislation development; conservation and sustainability of 
living resources; conservation science; fish and wildlife inventory, monitoring, and 
reporting; Conservation Data Centre; ecosystem data and information; terrestrial 
ecosystem mapping; habitat supply modelling. Water Sustainability Act: development of 
water legislation, regulations, policy, standards and guidance; integrated watershed and 
aquifer science; water quality objectives development and policy; water governance 
framework; provincial water strategies; intergovernmental agreements; drought 
strategy; First Nations and stakeholder outreach on water legislation; policy for water 
conservation; source water protection; water quality monitoring; BC Lake Stewardship 
and Monitoring Program; groundwater hydrology; groundwater protection; monitoring 
and network management for surface water and groundwater quantity and quality. 
State of Environment Reporting; snow survey; ambient air quality; water stewardship 
outreach; environmental and natural resource sector laboratory (analytical chemistry) 
and library services.  Overarching environmental policy and legislation; compliance 
planning; intergovernmental relations; and Service Plan. Professional Reliance Review 
coordination of government actions. Corporate Indigenous relations and partnership 
development. 
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Ministry of Finance  

DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 

Tax Policy Branch Provincial tax policy, including: 

• Provincial property taxes (school, rural, police) 

• Property Transfer Tax 

• Provincial Sales Tax 

• Carbon Tax  

• Motor Fuel Tax 

• Provincial Income Tax 

• Cannabis Tax 

• Indigenous Taxation 

Ministry of Forests, Lands, Natural Resource Operations and Rural Development 

DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 

BC Wildfire Service Wildfire Suppression, Wildfire Prevention and Community Resiliency Initiative  

Forest Policy and Indigenous 
Relations 

Economic Services, Trade and Export Policy, Timber Pricing, Compensation and 
Business Analysis, Coast and Interior Revitalization, Indigenous Relations. 

Integrated Resource 
Operations 

Archaeology; Compliance and Enforcement; GeoBC; Heritage; Mountain Resorts; 
Recreation Sites & Trails 

Office of the Chief Forester Forest Analysis & Inventory; Forest Improvement and Research Management Branch; 
Climate Change and Integrated Planning; Resource Practices and Innovation, Bio 
economy and Indigenous Opportunities. 

Regional Operations FrontCounter BC, resource management coordination, land use planning and 
implementation, Crown land and forest authorizations, community forest 
agreements, species at risk program delivery, urban deer, clean energy projects, First 
Nations consultation, ecosystem-based management, range, BC Timber Sales, Interior 
forest sector renewal, flood and fire recovery. 

Resource Stewardship Fish and Aquatic Habitat; Resource Planning and Assessment; Species at Risk 
Recovery; Water Management; Wildlife and Habitat. Includes resource practices, 
land-based investment planning, sustainable forest management, resource 
management objectives, fish and wildlife management, habitat management, water 
management, river forecasting, dam safety, flood safety, water use planning, utility 
regulation, water stewardship. 
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Ministry of Health 

DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 
Office of Indigenous Health Works in partnership with BC First Nations, Metis, Inuit and Health Canada, across 

provincial ministries, with regional health authorities, First Nations Health Authority, 
and Indigenous organizations, to ensure the implementation of Government key 
strategic directions and commitments regarding Indigenous health. 
 

Finance and Corporate 
Services 

Supports programs and health authorities by managing and ensuring a consistent 
approach to financial and corporate services planning, policy, performance 
oversight/reporting, and critical financial and corporate services issues management. 
Services provided include Audit and Investigations, Capital Services Management, 
Health Authority Regional Grants Decision Support, and Finance and Decision 
Support.  
 

Health Human Resources and 
Labour Relations 

Responsible for workforce planning and development and operational delivery of 
beneficiary services that contribute to effectively meeting patient and population 
health needs and improving patient outcomes through the efficient delivery of health 
services. 
 

Population and Public Health Focuses on improving people's overall health and well-being by promoting health; 
preventing disease, disability, and injury; protecting people from harm; and ensuring 
particular focus on key groups including Indigenous peoples, women and children 
(Health Protection; Healthy Living and Health Promotion; Public Health Services). 
 

Primary Care Responsible for implementing the provincial primary care strategy. The priorities of 
the division are:  Primary care networks; Urgent primary care centres; Community 
health centres; Interdisciplinary team based primary care services; ensuring 
integration of Primary Care services with community services programs. 
The Division also includes HealthLink BC due to its role as a key community services 
enabler of primary care. 
 

Provincial, Hospital and 
Laboratory Health Services 

Focuses on provincial health services, regional hospital services, pathology and 
laboratory, and precision medicine. The Division works closely with providers and 
stakeholders, provides strategic oversight, policy development and evaluation. 

 

Specialized Services Focuses on implementing specialized community and surgical services and programs. 
Community Care - Seniors services and Mental health and substance use services. 
Work on wait times - Surgical services; Colonoscopy services; Diagnostic services; 
Implementing waitlist policies and approaches in the specialized community services 
programs and other general health services. 
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Ministry of Indigenous Relations and Reconciliation 

DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 

Negotiations and Regional 
Operations Division 

Leading provincial engagement with First Nations to advance reconciliation initiatives, 
including negotiating and implementing agreements with First Nations partners in 
conjunction with other provincial agencies, federal and local government, and working 
with stakeholders to ensure the success of reconciliation initiatives.  

Reconciliation 
Transformation & Strategies 
Division 

Leads the development of reconciliation policy and works with all governments on 
topics including governance, rights recognition, self-determination, capacity building, 
implementation of adoption of the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of 
Indigenous Peoples, the Truth and Reconciliation Commission Calls to Action, and the 
Tsilhqot’in Supreme Court decision.  Responsible for developing a cross-government 
vision for reconciliation for the province in collaboration with Indigenous peoples. 

Implementation and Lands 
Services Branch 

Leads key functions for the completion, implementation and ongoing relationship 
management of agreements with First Nations in the province, including: 

• Provincial representative on treat Implementation Committees; 
• Tri-partite treaty closing to reach Effective Date;  
• Research/advice and survey for crown land negotiations; and, 
• Implementation best practices to ensure agreement obligations met. 

Socio-Economic Partnerships  
Branch  

Leads the development and implementation of key corporate indigenous initiatives 
and seeks to achieve positive impacts needed to improve the social and economic 
conditions of Indigenous people in BC living on and off reserve. This work requires the 
development of solutions through a diverse range of initiatives through engagement 
with Indigenous partners, provincial ministries and the federal government.   

Community and Social 
Innovation Branch 

Leads the Ministry’s efforts in sociocultural reconciliation with Indigenous 
communities in British Columbia, including First Nations, Metis, urban Indigenous 
peoples and Indigenous youth. Partners with Indigenous governments, communities, 
organizations and other ministries to implement community wellbeing initiatives that 
advance self-determining, thriving, and resilient Indigenous communities. 

Major Project and Cross 
Gov’t Initiatives Branch 

Leads and/or supports initiatives and provides strategic advice to other Governmental 
departments, First Nations, and industry proponents in a variety of initiatives in the 
fields of environmental stewardship, resource development, and emerging economic 
opportunities.  The Branch also holds Provincial accountability for strategic 
consultation and accommodation procedures and associated tools to support 
statutory decision makers. 
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Ministry of Jobs, Trade and Technology 

Division/Branch Topic 

Strategic Investments Office 
Branch 

Works directly with prospective investors whose projects have the potential to provide 
significant economic and job creation benefits to British Columbia. 
The SIO provides client-focused and personalized business services to help major 
investors save time and money, minimize risk and maximize certainty as their project 
proposal moves through provincial government regulatory and approval processes. The 
SIO works with municipalities, Indigenous communities and government agencies to 
facilitate significant investment projects in BC. 

Small Business, Jobs and 
Workforce Division 

Small business initiatives, programs, resources and available supports including the 
Small Business Task Force;  and Small Business Roundtable; Sector and Regulatory 
Competitiveness including Better Regulations for British Columbians. 
Economic Policy and Support including Manufacturing sector support, including 
industries such as aerospace and marine; Provincial Economic Development 
Framework. 
Immigrations programs, settlement and integrations services; including Provincial 
Nominee Program, Entrepreneur Immigration Regional Pilot; foreign qualifications 
recognition, interprovincial labour mobility. 
BC Stats Information and Analysis. 

Planning and Innovation 
Branch 

 Leads the development and implementation of strategy and policy in support of 
provincial technology, innovation and related investment initiatives. The branch also 
provides expertise on BC’s research strengths and leads the planning and coordination 
of provincial technology and innovation policy and programming. 

International Trade Division Overseas trade and investment representative (TIR) presence in US, Europe and Asia; 
Trade readiness and trade services programs including support to communities across 
the province including indigenous communities;  
Initiatives to attract and retain international investors and businesses, and align efforts 
with B.C. communities and federal programs; 
International and domestic trade negotiations and agreements; 
International strategy and research; 
Trade and Investment Missions; 
International marketing; 
International engagement 

Regional Programs and 
Engagement Branch 

 Leads the development and delivery of policies, programs and initiatives supporting 
local, regional and Indigenous economic development and community investment 
readiness. 
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Ministry of Labour 

DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 

Labour Relations Administration of the Labour Relations Code through the independent quasi-judicial 
B.C. Labour Relations Board.  The Ministry also promotes stable labour relations by 
monitoring collective bargaining disputes and providing formal and informal 
assistance to the parties.  Also, responsible for the Fire and Police Services Collective 
Bargaining Act. 

Employment Standards Administration of the Employment Standards Act to ensure employees receive basic 
standards of compensation and conditions of employment, including the minimum 
wage.  Provide fair and efficient procedures for resolving workplace disputes.  
Responsible for the Employment Standards Branch and the Employment Standards 
Tribunal.  Responsible for enforcement of the new Temporary Foreign Worker 
Protection Act. 

Workers’ Compensation Administration of the Workers Compensation Act and responsible for WorkSafeBC 
(provincial Workers’ Compensation Board).  WorkSafeBC provides compensation 
services, health care and vocational rehabilitation to injured workers.  WorkSafeBC 
also has authority to develop, enact and enforce the Occupational Health and Safety 
Regulation.  The Ministry is also responsible for the Employers’ Advisers Office, the 
Workers’ Advisers Office, and the Workers’ Compensation Appeal Tribunal. 
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Ministry of Mental Health and Addictions 

DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 

Mental Health and 
Addictions 

Leading the immediate response to the overdose public health emergency, including 
harm reduction, public awareness, treatment and recovery services and prevention 
initiatives; Setting strategic direction for provincial mental health and addictions 
services through research, policy development and evaluation, including in relation to 
designated facilities under the Mental Health Act 

Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing 

DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 

Community and Legislative Services Division 

Community Gaming Grants Community Gaming Grants support eligible not-for-profit organizations delivering 
community programs that benefit the citizens of British Columbia.  Grants are awarded 
in several sectors including; Arts & Culture, Sport, Public Safety, Environment, Human 
& Social Services and Parent Advisory Councils.   
Eligible not-for-profit can also apply for Capital Grants through the program.  

Community Policy and 
Legislation 

TransLink legislation and governance; Ministry liaison with Auditor General for Local 
Government; Coordination of Ministry-wide legislation, regulations and board 
appointments.  

Property Assessment 
Services 

Provincial property assessment policy and legislation as it pertains to valuation and 
classification, including valuation of restricted use properties, redevelopment lands and 
impacts on business and housing affordability. 

Local Government Division 

Governance Structures 

Governance Services 

Governance Relations  

Incorporation, restructure, boundary extensions, structure-related legislation and 
processes, and local and regional governance. 
Local government administration, elections, governance operations-related legislative 
requirements/powers and local and regional services. 
Local government First Nations relations and Crown Grant/Nominal Rent Tenure 
sponsorships. 

Local Government Finance Local government finance, including:  budgeting and financial plans; audited financial 
statements; unconditional grants; reserve funds; investments and municipal 
corporations; long-term liabilities; development financing (including Development Cost 
Charges); user-fees; and taxation (including tax sale). 

Infrastructure and 
Engineering 

Asset management, drinking water, wastewater, stormwater, solid waste, green 
energy and other capital grants, infrastructure planning grants and infrastructure 
programs (Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program, Clean Water and Wastewater 
Fund and Small Communities Fund). 

Planning and Land Use 

Management Programs / 

Negotiations and Corporate 

Initiatives 

Local Government Climate 

Action 

Dispute Resolution Guidance 

Local government planning and land use management framework, including: new 
legislation related to rental zoning, housing needs reports and TransLink development 
cost charges; other local planning and land use tools; ministerial approvals of some 
official community plans; Regional Growth Strategies (RGSs); and Development 
Approvals Process Review. 
CleanBC, Climate Action Charter, Climate Action Revenue Incentive Program (CARIP), 
joint provincial-UBCM Green Communities Committee (GCC), support for local 
government climate mitigation and adaptation action. 
Dispute resolution guidance related to Regional District service review/withdrawal, 
RGS and other intergovernmental disputes. 

Local Government Policy, 
Research and Legislation 

Overall responsibility for local government legislation development for Community 
Charter, Local Government Act, Local Elections Campaign Financing Act and other local 
government legislation.  Broad responsibility for forward-looking policy development in 
relation to various local government authorities.   
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing Continued… 

Office of Housing and Construction Standards 

Housing and Policy Branch Housing policy and program development, including market and non-market housing, 
supportive housing and homelessness; liaison with BC Housing, which partners with 
local government, non-profit and private developers to build affordable housing; 
legislation governing strata properties, as well as actions in the Homes for BC: A 30-
Point Plan For Housing Affordability; BC Housing. 

Building and Safety 
Standards Branch 

Buildings, Construction, and Technical Systems:  The regulatory framework for 
buildings and technical systems, including development of building, plumbing, fire, 
electrical, gas elevator and energy codes, site specific and jurisdiction specific 
regulations (e.g., tall wood), safety standards for technical systems (e.g., refrigeration 
in arenas), homeowner protection (e.g., home warranties), oversight of certain 
industry professionals and trades (e.g., home builder licensing), and policy advice 
relating to the built environment, including climate leadership. Liaison with BC 
Housing Licensing and Consumer Services, Technical Safety BC, Building Officials 
Association of BC, and National Research Council.  

Residential Tenancy Branch The regulatory framework for landlords and tenants, including conventional 
residential and manufactured home park tenancies; information services and disputes 
resolution for landlord and tenant disputes. 

Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General 

DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 

Policing and Security Branch Police Services: provides central oversight of all policing and law enforcement in the 
province by developing and administering policing policy and programs.  Ensures the 
adequate and effective levels of policing throughout the province. 
Security Programs: administration of the Protection Order Registry, the Criminal 
Records Review Program, and the regulation of the security industry in B.C. 

Community Safety and 
Crime Prevention Branch 

Civil Forfeiture; Victim Services; Violence Against Women and Children; Crime 
Prevention; and, Combating Trafficking in Persons. 

Corrections Branch Community Corrections:  supervision and programs to reduce reoffending for 
offenders who live outside of correctional centres. 
Adult Custody:  operation of correctional centres. 

RoadSafety BC Operates provincial road safety programs and is the policy and regulatory agency 
responsible for ensuring the safe and responsible operation of motor vehicles in B.C. 

Emergency Management BC 

**Meeting requests for the 
Minister will be held with the 
Parliamentary Secretary for 
Emergency Preparedness. 

Emergency Management BC (EMBC) is the lead co-ordinating agency in the provincial 
government for all emergency management activities.  The overall purpose of EMBC is 
to make individuals and communities in B.C. safer. 
EMBC works with local governments, First Nations, federal departments, industry, 
non-governmental organizations, and volunteers to support the emergency 
management phases of mitigation and prevention, preparedness, response, and 
recovery. Additionally, EMBC engages with provincial, national and international 
partners to enhance collective emergency preparedness.  
Also, within EMBC is the Office of the Fire Commissioner (OFC).  The OFC is the senior 
fire authority in the province with respect to fire safety and prevention.   

Cannabis Legalization and 
Regulation Secretariat 

The Secretariat is responsible for coordinating cannabis policy across the provincial 
government.  Working with partner ministries and external stakeholders, the 
Secretariat seeks to advance Government’s overarching cannabis policy goals, which 
include: public health and safety, protecting children and youth, reducing crime and 
the illegal market, addressing cannabis-impaired driving, and supporting economic 
development. 
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Ministry of Social Development and Poverty Reduction 

DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 

Research, Innovation and Policy 
Division  

 

 

 

 

 

Service Delivery Division 

TogetherBC, British Columbia’s first poverty reduction strategy, sets a path to reduce 
overall poverty in B.C. by 25% and child poverty by 50% by 2024.  
With investments from across Government, TogetherBC reflects government’s 
commitment to reduce poverty and make life more affordable for British Columbians. 
It includes policy initiatives and investments designed to lift people up, break the cycle 
of poverty and build a better B.C. for everyone. 
Built on the principles of Affordability, Opportunity, Reconciliation, and Social 
Inclusion, TogetherBC focuses on six priority action areas: 

• More affordable housing for more people 
• Supporting families, children and youth 
• Expanding access to education and training 
• More opportunities, more jobs 
• Improving income supports 
• Investing in social inclusion 

Accessibility – Working across government to increase accessibility and decrease 
barriers for people with disabilities in B.C.  
Income and Disability Assistance - Income Assistance provides support and shelter 
payments to help low income singles and families while they are looking for work. 
Disability assistance provides support and shelter payments to people who are low-
income with a severe disability and can’t fully support themselves or gain 
independence. Income and Disability Assistance programs and services are delivered 
at 47 ministry office locations and 36 partnership Service BC offices around the 
province. Clients can also access services through the ministry’s toll-free phone line or 
through the online client portal My Self-Serve.  

Employment and Labour 
Market Services Division 

How to access employment supports through the Employment Program of BC and the 
84 WorkBC Employment Service Centres located throughout the province. 
How to apply for project based funding under the Community Employer Partnership 
initiative in order to increase local employment opportunities for British Columbians. 

Ministry of Tourism, Arts and Culture 

DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 
BC Arts Council Application and peer review adjudication process for programs of the BC Arts Council; 

responsibility for arts and cultural development in communities through grants to 
individual artists and organizations; funding for community arts organizations and 
regional arts organizations; support for Indigenous artists and arts organizations; 
support for youth and emerging practitioners through scholarships and early career 
development; support for touring. 

Arts and Cultural 
Development 

Research, analysis and policy and program development that aims to enrich 
communities, provide broad access to and increase participation in the arts and 
leverage partnerships for impactful and innovative programming in all corners of 
B.C.  Provides oversight of the Royal BC Museum and the modernization project as 
well as establishing of a Chinese Canadian Museum 

Sport Sport policy issues; programs supporting the delivery of services through provincial 
sport organizations; sport event hosting. 

BC Athletic Commission Legislation and regulatory oversight of professional boxing and mixed martial arts, as 
well as amateur kickboxing, mixed martial arts, Muay Thai and pankration. . 
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Tourism  Policy development and strategic issues management to support BC’s tourism sector; 
manages the Resort Municipality Initiative, Tourism Event Program and Municipal 
Regional District Tax program (jointly with DestinationBC and Ministry of Finance.)  
Provides oversight of Destination BC (tourism marketing/development) and BC 
Pavilion Corporation (BC Place and Vancouver Convention Centre) and leads 
development and implementation of provincial tourism strategy. 

Creative Sector Policy development, research and inter-government relations work in support of 
B.C.’s creative industries including, film, television, interactive digital media, music, 
and publishing.  Provides oversight of Creative BC and the Knowledge Network. 

Multiculturalism Multiculturalism Community Grant program, Organizing Against Racism and Hate 
Program, Multicultural Advisory Council, Premier’s Chinese Canadian Advisory Council 
Secretariat. 

Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure 

DIVISION/BRANCH TOPIC 

Highway Operations  The Highway Operations Department plans, designs, constructs, operates, rehabilitates 
and maintains the provincial public highway system.  Project manages and delivers 
hundreds of expansion, rehabilitation and safety improvement projects annually 
including maintenance contracts, centreline marking contracts and electrical contracts.  
Oversees and manages privatized road and bridge maintenance.  Approves subdivisions 
in rural areas near provincial highways, issues highway permits for access, utilities and 
special events and approves zoning near provincial highways.   

Highway Services  The Highways Services Department develops province-wide engineering and 
environmental solutions and implements standards, policies and procedures regarding 
provincial transportation engineering. Ensures commercial vehicle safety by managing 
the National Safety Code, the Vehicle Inspection and Standards and enforcement of the 
Motor Vehicle Act in relation to commercial vehicles. 

Major Projects, Infrastructure 
and Properties Department 

 The Major Projects, Infrastructure and Properties Department is responsible for all 
aspects of strategic planning, programming, procurement and major projects delivery 
within the province including development and management of the provincial 10 year 
Transportation Investment Plan, management of federal and community cost sharing 
programs, and the delivery of the major transportation projects throughout the 
province. Oversees the acquisition, management and disposition of the ministry’s 
thousands of properties and land interests, including those owned by the BC 
Transportation Financing Authority and BC Railway Company. The department is also 
the primary linkage to the Transportation Investment Corporation. 

Transportation Policy & 
Programs Department 

The Transportation Policy and Programs Department is responsible for all aspects of 
strategic transportation policy. This includes air, rail and marine modes, passenger 
transportation regulations and licensing, inter-governmental relations, cycling and 
airport grant programs, climate leadership, corporate planning, strategic initiatives and 
writing services as well as to maintain and optimize the delivery of transit services in 
participating communities throughout the province. The department also has provincial 
oversight of the inland and coastal ferry system in British Columbia. 
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Provincial Agencies, Commissions and Corporations 

ORGANIZATION TOPIC 

Agricultural Land 
Commission 

Information and advice regarding the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) and work of the 
Provincial Agricultural Land Commission (ALC).  ALC Chair and/or Chief Executive Officer 
will be in attendance. 

Auditor General for Local 
Government 

The office of the Auditor General for Local Government conducts performance audits 
of local governments in order to provide them with objective information and relevant 
advice that will assist them in their accountability and the achievement of value for 
money in their operations.  Our work emphasizes a collaborative approach in working 
with local governments and we would be pleased to meet and discuss areas of risk or 
concerns and how our office can assist in addressing these issues. 

BC Emergency Health 
Services (BCEHS) 

BCEHS governs the emergency medical services system in BC and provides pre-hospital 
emergency and inter-facility patient transfer services.  Under the oversight of BCEHS, 
BC Ambulance Service (paramedics and emergency medical call takers and dispatch 
staff provide pre-hospital emergency care and medically necessary transport (ground 
and air) for British Columbians.  BCEHS also oversees the BC Patient Transfer Network 
(BCPTN), which coordinates the transfer of acute and critically ill patients to the 
appropriate level of care both within and outside of B.C. 

Members of the BCEHS Executive will be in attendance and look forward to participating 
in productive and engaging sessions. 

BC Housing BC Housing works in partnership with private and non-profit sectors, provincial health 
authorities and ministries, other levels of government and community groups to 
develop a range of housing options. These affordable housing options span the 
housing continuum, including emergency shelter and housing for the homeless, 
transitional supportive and assisted living, independent social housing, rent assistance 
in the private market, and affordable owner-purchase housing.  

Through the Homeowner Protection Act, BC Housing also licenses residential builders, 
administers owner builder authorizations, ensures that mandatory licensing and home 
warranty insurance provisions are complied with, oversees the third-party home-
warranty insurance, and carries out research and education that benefits the 
residential construction industry, consumers and the affordable housing sector. 

BC Hydro Our vision is to be the most trusted, innovative utility company in North America by 
being smart about power in all we do.  BC Hydro’s Community Relations staff will be 
present at the Convention and look forward to addressing any questions that you may 
have related to their operations. 

BC Oil and Gas Commission The BC Oil and Gas Commission regulates oil and gas activities for the benefit of British 
Columbians and looks forward to addressing any questions you may have on our 
regulatory oversight. 
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Provincial Agencies, Commissions and Corporations Continued… 

BC Transit From small towns to large urban centres outside of Metro Vancouver, BC Transit 
provides safe, effective, customer focused transportation solutions that connect people 
and communities to a more sustainable future.  BC Transit would be pleased to discuss 
any questions you may have regarding our services.  In order to provide you with the 
best information possible, please provide specifics relating to your questions within the 
online meeting request. 

Insurance Corporation of 
British Columbia (ICBC) 

ICBC provides universal compulsory auto insurance (basic insurance) to drivers in British 
Columbia, with rates regulated by the British Columbia Utilities Commission (BCUC), and 
also sells optional auto insurance in a competitive marketplace.  Our insurance products 
are available across B.C. through a network of independent brokers, and claims services 
are provided at ICBC claims handling facilities located throughout the province.  We also 
invest in road safety and loss management programs to reduce traffic-related deaths, 
injuries and crashes, auto crime and fraud.  In addition, we provide driver licensing, 
vehicle registration and licensing services, and fines collection on behalf of the 
provincial government at locations across the province.  ICBC will have staff present at 
the Convention who would be pleased to discuss or meet on any issues related to ICBC’s 
operations. 

Royal Canadian Mounted 
Police (RCMP) 

Various police issues. 
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____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Office of the Web Site: Mailing Address: Location: 
Premier www.gov.bc.ca PO Box 9041 Stn Prov Govt Parliament Buildings 
  Victoria BC  V8W 9E1 Victoria 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

June 10, 2019 

 

Dear Mayors and Regional District Chairs: 

 

My caucus colleagues and I are looking forward to seeing you all again at this year’s Union of 

British Columbia Municipalities (UBCM) Convention in Vancouver from September 23-27. 

 

Resiliency and Change, the theme for the 2019 Convention, is indeed an appropriate focus as 

communities throughout our province are experiencing change on issues ranging from the 

impacts of climate change to economic pressures. UBCM provides a wonderful opportunity to 

listen to one another, share ideas, and find new approaches to ensure our communities thrive. 

With local, provincial, federal, and First Nations governments working together, we can continue 

to build a better BC.  

 

If you would like to request a meeting with a Cabinet Minister or with me during this year’s 

convention, please register online at https://ubcmreg.gov.bc.ca/ (live, as of today). Please note 

that this year’s invitation code is MeetingRequest2019 and it is case sensitive. If you have any 

questions, please contact UBCM.Meetings@gov.bc.ca or phone 250-213-3856.  

 

I look forward to being part of your convention, meeting with many of you, and exploring ways 

that we can partner together to address common issues. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

John Horgan 

Premier 
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Ministry of Municipal Affairs and 
Housing  

 
Office of the Minister 

 
Mailing Address: 
PO Box 9056 Stn Prov Govt 
Victoria BC V8W 9E2 
Phone: 250 387-2283 
Fax: 250 387-4312 

 
Location: 
Room 310 
Parliament Buildings 
Victoria BC 
 
www.gov.bc.ca/mah  

 
 
 

June 10, 2019 
 
Dear Mayors and Regional District Chairs: 
 
I am pleased to provide you with the following information regarding the process for requesting a 
meeting with me during the annual UBCM Convention taking place this year from 
September 23 to 27, 2019 in Vancouver, British Columbia.  
 
You will receive a separate letter from the Honourable John Horgan, Premier, containing information 
about the online process for requesting a meeting with Premier Horgan and other Cabinet ministers. 
 
If you would like to meet with me at the Convention, please complete the online request form at: 
MAH Minister's Meeting and submit it to the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing before 
July 17, 2019.  Meeting arrangements will be confirmed by early September.  I will do my best to 
accommodate as many meeting requests as possible.   
 
To get the most out of your delegation’s meeting with me, it would be helpful for you to provide as 
much detail as possible in the online form on the topic you wish to discuss.  This will enable me to have 
a better understanding of your delegation’s interests so that our discussions can be more productive. 
 
Ministry staff will soon email you the Provincial Appointment Book.  This lists all government, agency, 
commission, and corporation staff who are expected to be available to meet with delegates at the 
Convention, as well as details on how to request a meeting with staff online. 
 
This will be my third UBCM Convention as Minister responsible for local government, and I appreciate 
the collaboration and partnerships that we have built over these last several years.  I look forward to 
hearing more about your challenges and accomplishments as we continue our work together to make 
life better for all British Columbians. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Selina Robinson 
Minister 
 
pc: Honourable John Horgan, Premier 
 Arjun Singh, President, Union of British Columbia Municipalities 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY 
 

BYLAW NO. 2957 
 

A bylaw to amend Zoning Bylaw No. 2500, 2007 
 
 
 
The Council of the Corporation of the City of Courtenay in open meeting assembled enacts as 
follows: 
 
1. This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2957, 2019”. 

2. That “Zoning Bylaw No. 2500, 2007” be hereby amended as follows: 
 

(a)  Amending Section 8.19.1 by adding “notwithstanding any provision of this bylaw, a 
storefront cannabis retailer is a permitted use on Lot A, Section 66, Comox District, Plan 
34998, Except that Part in Plan 49713 (#103-2270 Cliffe Avenue).” 

 
 

 
3.   This bylaw shall come into effect upon final adoption hereof.  
 
Read a first time this    day of  , 2019 
 
Read a second time this   day of  , 2019 
 
Considered at a Public Hearing this   day of  , 2019 
 
Read a third time this    day of  , 2019 
 
Finally passed and adopted this  day of  , 2019 
 
 
             
Mayor       Corporate Officer 
 
 
Approved under S.52 (3)(a) of the Transportation Act 
 
 
                                                             
Brendan Kelly, Development Technician 
Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure  
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY 
 

BYLAW NO. 2922 
 

A bylaw to amend Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 2387, 2005 
 
 
 
The Council of the Corporation of the City of Courtenay in open meeting assembled enacts as 
follows: 
 
1. This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as “Official Community Plan Amendment Bylaw 

No. 2922, 2019”. 

2. That “Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 2387, 2005” be hereby amended as follows: 

(a)  by changing the land use designation of Lot 4, District Lot 96, Comox District, Plan 
32210 Except Part in Plan VIP68472 and VIP76687 (2048 - 13th St.), as shown in bold 
outline on Attachment A which is attached hereto and forms part of this bylaw, from 
Urban Residential to Multi Residential; and 

 
(b) That the map “City of Courtenay OCP Land Use” be amended accordingly. 

 
3.   This bylaw shall come into effect upon final adoption hereof.  
 
Read a first time this 21st day of May, 2019 
 
Read a second time this 21st day of May, 2019 
 
Published in two editions of the Comox Valley Record on the 4th day June, 2019 and the 6th day 
of June, 2019 
 
Considered at a Public Hearing this 10th day of June, 2019 
 
Read a third time this    day of  , 2019 
 
Finally passed and adopted this  day of  , 2019 
 
 
 
 
             
Mayor       Corporate Officer 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY 
 

BYLAW NO. 2927 
 

A bylaw to amend Zoning Bylaw No. 2500, 2007 
 
 
 
The Council of the Corporation of the City of Courtenay in open meeting assembled enacts as 
follows: 
 
1. This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2927, 2019”. 

2. That “Zoning Bylaw No. 2500, 2007” be hereby amended as follows: 
 

(a)  Amending Section 8.35.2 by adding: 
 

“(4) notwithstanding any provision of this bylaw, Multi residential dwellings are a 
permitted use on Lot 4, District Lot 96, Comox District, Plan 32210 Except Part in Plan 
VIP68472 and VIP76687 (2048 - 13th Street).” 

 
3.   This bylaw shall come into effect upon final adoption hereof.  
 
Read a first time this 21st day of May, 2019 
 
Read a second time this 21st day of May, 2019 
 
Published in two editions of the Comox Valley Record on the 4th day June, 2019 and the 6th day 
of June, 2019 
 
Considered at a Public Hearing this 10th day of June, 2019 
 
Read a third time this    day of  , 2019 
 
Finally passed and adopted this  day of  , 2019 
 
 
 
 
             
Mayor       Corporate Officer 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY 
 

BYLAW NO. 2962 
 

A bylaw to amend Zoning Bylaw No. 2500, 2007 
 
 
 
The Council of the Corporation of the City of Courtenay in open meeting assembled enacts as 
follows: 
 
1. This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as “Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 2962, 2019”. 

2. That “Zoning Bylaw No. 2500, 2007” be hereby amended as follows: 

(a)  by rezoning Lot 1, District Lot 230, Comox District, Plan VIP63767 (2100 Arden Road), 
as shown in bold outline on Attachment A which is attached hereto and forms part of 
this bylaw, from Residential One Zone (R-1) to Residential One D Zone (R-1D); and 

 
(b) That Schedule No. 8, Zoning Map be amended accordingly. 

 
3.   This bylaw shall come into effect upon final adoption hereof.  
 
Read a first time this 21st day of May , 2019 
 
Read a second time this 21st day of May, 2019 
 
Published in two editions of the Comox Valley Record on the 4th day June, 2019 and the 6th day 
of June, 2019 
 
Considered at a Public Hearing this 10th day of June , 2019 
 
Read a third time this    day of  , 2019 
 
Finally passed and adopted this  day of  , 2019 
 
 
 
             
Mayor       Corporate Officer 
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 THE CITY OF COURTENAY 

ATTACHMENT “A” 
Part of Bylaw No. 2962, 2019 

Amendment to the  
Zoning Bylaw No. 2500, 2007 
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THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF COURTENAY 
 

BYLAW NO. 2970 
 

A bylaw to regulate the business use of single use plastics 
 
WHEREAS the Council of the City of Courtenay has the authority under Section 8(6) of the 
Community Charter to regulate in relation to business. 
  
AND WHEREAS the Council of the City of Courtenay wishes to establish a bylaw to reduce the 
creation of waste from single-use items and the associated costs with maintaining municipal 
property, including but not limited to streets, sewers, parks and waterways. 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Corporation of the City of Courtenay, in open meeting 
assembled, enacts as follows: 
 
1) INTRODUCTION 
 
This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as “City of Courtenay Single Use Plastics Regulation 
Bylaw No. 2970, 2019”. 
 
 
2) DEFINITIONS 
 
Checkout Bag means: 

(a) any bag that is intended to be used by a consumer for the purpose of transporting items 
purchased or received by a customer from a Business providing the bag; or 

(b) bags used to package take-out or delivery of food; 

(c) and includes Paper Bags, Plastic Bags, or Reusable Bags; 

Business means any person, organization, or group engaged in a trade, business, profession, 
occupation, calling, employment or purpose that is regulated under the Business Licence Bylaw 
and, for the purposes of section 3, includes a person employed by, or operating on behalf of, a 
Business; 

Paper Bag means a bag made out of paper, but does not include a Small Paper Bag; 

Plastic  Bag  means  any  bag  made  with  plastic,  including  biodegradable  plastic  or 
compostable plastic, but does not include a Reusable Bag; 
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Plastic Drinking Straw means a tube made of plastic, including biodegradable or compostable 
plastics, used to transfer a beverage from a container to the mouth of the individual drinking the 
beverage by suction; 

Reusable Bag means a bag with handles that is for the purpose of transporting items purchased 
by the customer from a Business and is: 

a) designed and manufactured to be capable of at least 100 uses; and 

b) primarily made of cloth or other washable fabric; 

Small Paper Bag means any bag made out of paper that is less than 15 centimetres by 20 
centimetres when flat. 
 
 
3) REGULATION 

(1) Except as provided in this Bylaw, no Business may provide a customer with any of the 
following items: 
a) Checkout Bag; 
b) Plastic Drinking Straw. 

 
(2) A Business may provide a Checkout Bag to a customer only if: 

a) the customer is first asked whether they need a bag;  
b) the bag provided is a Paper Bag or a Reusable Bag; and  
c) the customer is charged a fee not less than: 

(i) $0.25 per Paper Bag; and 
(ii) $1.00 per Reusable Bag. 

 
(3) For certainty, no Business may: 

a) sell or provide to a customer any of the items listed in section (1) except as provided by 
this Bylaw; or 

b) provide a Checkout Bag to a customer free of charge. 
 

(4) No Business shall deny or discourage a customer from using their own Checkout Bag or 
Plastic Drinking Straw. 
 

4) EXEMPTIONS 

(1) Section 3 does not apply to Small Paper Bags or Plastic Bags used to: 
a) package loose bulk items such as fruit, vegetables, nuts, grains, and candy;  
b) package loose small hardware items such as nails and bolts; 
c) contain or wrap frozen foods, meat, poultry, or fish, whether pre-packaged or not; 
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d) wrap flowers or potted plants; 
e) protect prepared foods or bakery goods that are not pre-packaged;  
f) contain prescription drugs received from a pharmacy; 
g) protect linens,  bedding,  or  other similar  large  items  that  cannot easily  fit  in a 

Reusable Bag; 
h) protect clothes after professional laundering or dry cleaning. 

 
(2) This bylaw does not apply to the sale of Plastic Bags intended for use at the customer’s home 

or business, provided that they are prepackaged and sold in packages of multiple bags. 
 

(3) This bylaw does not apply to the sale of Plastic Drinking Straws intended for use in the 
customer’s home, provided they are sold in packages of multiple straws. 

 
(4) Notwithstanding section 3(2)(c) and 3(3)(b), a Business may provide a Checkout Bag free of  

charge if: 
a) the Business meets the other requirements of section 3(2); 
b) the bag has already been used by a customer; and; 
c) the bag has been returned to the Business for the purpose of being re used by other 

customers. 

5) OFFENCE 

(1) A person commits an offence and is subject to the penalties imposed by this bylaw, and the 
Offence Act if that person: 
a) contravenes a provision of this bylaw; 
b) consents to, allows, or permits an act or thing to be done contrary to this bylaw; or 
c) neglects or refrains from doing anything required be a provision of this bylaw. 

 
(2) Each instance that a contravention of a provision of this bylaw occurs and each day that a 

contravention continues shall constitute a separate offence. 
 

6) PENALTIES 

(1)  A person found guilty of an offence under this Bylaw is subject to a fine: 
a) if a corporation, of not less than $100.00 and not more than $10,000.00 
b) if an individual, of not less than $50.00 and not more than $500.00 for every instance that 

an offence occurs or each day that it continues. 
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7) SEVERABILITY 

If any provision of this Bylaw is held to be invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, that 
provision shall be severed and its severance shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the 
Bylaw. 
 

8) EFFECTIVE DATE 

This Bylaw shall come into force and effect on July 1, 2019, except Section 5 which comes into 
force March 31, 2020. 

 

Read a first time this 15th day of April, 2019 

Read a second time this 15th day of April, 2019 

Read a third time this 15th day of April, 2019 

Notice given under section 59(2)(a) and (3) of the Community Charter and published in two 
editions of the Comox Valley Record on the 4th day June, 2019 and the 6th day of June, 2019 

Finally passed and adopted this    day of     , 2019 

 
 
 
             
Mayor       Corporate Officer 
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